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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

(X) QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004

OR

() TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 0-32383

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 23-3070336
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

c/o Pegasus Communications Management Company;

225 City Line Avenue, Suite 200, Bala Cynwyd, PA 19004
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (888) 438-7488

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all
reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes /X/ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer
(as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes /X/ No

Number of shares of each class of the registrant's common stock
outstanding as of May 5, 2004:

Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value

(excluding 682,104 shares held by subsidiaries of the registrant) 4,910,471
Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value 916,380
Non-Voting Common Stock, $0.01 par value -
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
March 31,
2004
<S> <C>
Currents assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 64,243
Restricted cash 62,664
Accounts receivable, net
Trade 22,241
Other 10,636
Deferred subscriber acquisition costs, net 7,950
Prepaid expenses 5,656
Other current assets 6,269
Total current assets 179,659
Property and equipment, net 80,542
Intangible assets, net 1,583,531
Other noncurrent assets 168,798
Total $ 2,012,530
Current liabilities:
Copyright © 2012 www. com. All Rights
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December 31,
2003
(unaudited)
<C>

$ 82,921
62,517

24,923
7,529
9,945
6,953
6,549

201,337
83,702
1,607,805
158,256
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41
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42

44

46

47
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Current portion of long term debt $ 19,625
Accounts payable 11,073
Accrued interest 21,572
Accrued programming fees and commissions 57,642
Litigation verdict accrual (see Note 13) 58,000
Other accrued expenses 22,356
Other current liabilities 7,293
Total current liabilities 197,561

Long term debt 1,372,799
Mandatorily redeemable preferred stock 86,038
Other noncurrent liabilities 78,825
Total liabilities 1,735,223

Commitments and contingent liabilities (see Note 13)

Redeemable preferred stocks 214,330
Minority interest 8,834
Common stockholders' equity:
Common stock 65
Other common stockholders' equity 54,078
Total common stockholders' equity 54,143
Total $ 2,012,530
</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

<S>
Net revenues:
Direct broadcast satellite
Broadcast television and other operations

Total net revenues
Operating expenses:
Direct broadcast satellite
Programming
Other subscriber related expenses

Direct operating expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization shown
below)
Promotions and incentives
Advertising and selling
Litigation verdict (see Note 13)
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization

Total direct broadcast satellite expenses
Broadcast television and other operations (including depreciation and
amortization of $554 for 2004 and $754 for 2003)
Corporate and development expenses (including depreciation and amortization
of $3,927 for 2004 and $4,065 for 2003)
Other operating expenses

Loss from operations
Interest expense
Interest income
Other nonoperating income (loss), net

Loss before equity in affiliates, income taxes, discontinued operations,
and cumulative effect of consolidating variable interest entities
Equity in losses of affiliates
Net benefit for income taxes
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$ 3,
12,
34,
58,
35,
21,
7,
172,

1,385,
85,
70,

215,

121,

157
362
696
250
167
583
158
373
071
512
507

501
452

63
621

Three Months Ended March 31,

2004

<C>

$ 197,910
7,535

89,831
36,772

126,603
3,118
4,246

17,326
6,298
44,464

202,055
7,396

8,401
8,518

2003

(restated-see Note 15)
<C>

$ 205,546
7,572

93,256
44,675

137,931
2,878
5,726

6,373
41,986

194,894
7,831

8,084
8,010
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Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of

consolidating variable interest entities (66,251)
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations (including gain on disposal of $7,444 and
net of income tax expense of $2,729 in 2003) -
Loss before cumulative effect of consolidating variable interest entities (66,251)
Cumulative effect of consolidating variable interest entities (2,127)
Net loss S (68,378)
Comprehensive loss S (68,378)
Basic and diluted per common share amounts:
Loss from continuing operations, including $(1,283) and $6,656, respectively,
representing preferred stock dividends, deemed dividends, and accretion S (11.42)
Discontinued operations -
Cumulative effect of consolidating variable interest entities (.37)
Net loss applicable to common shares $  (11.79)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 5,688

</TABLE>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
5
PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Three Months Ended March 31,
2004 2003

<S> <C> <C>
Net cash used for operating activities $ (2,579) S (7,972)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Direct broadcast satellite equipment capitalized (2,621) (5,384)

Other capital expenditures (622) (600)

Proceeds from sale of broadcast station - 10,965

Purchases of intangible assets (4,3106) (52)

Other 167 150
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities (7,392) 5,079
Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayments of term loan facilities (750) (846)

Repayments of other long term debt (53) (2,278)

Purchases of common stock - (1,223)

Restricted cash (5,282) (49)

Debt financing costs (2,477) -

Other (145) 39
Net cash used for financing activities (8,707) (4,357)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (18,678) (7,250)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 82,921 59,814
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period S 64,243 S 52,564

</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL

All references to "we," "us," and "our" refer to Pegasus Communications
Corporation, together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries. "Pegasus
Communications" refers to Pegasus Communications Corporation individually as a
separate entity. "Pegasus Satellite" refers to Pegasus Satellite Communications,
Inc., one of our direct wholly owned subsidiaries, and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. "Pegasus Development" refers to Pegasus Development Corporation,
another of our direct wholly owned subsidiaries. "Pegasus Media" refers to
Pegasus Media & Communications, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pegasus
Satellite. "Pegasus Satellite Television" refers to Pegasus Satellite
Television, Inc. and Golden Sky Systems, Inc. and their subsidiaries, indirect
wholly owned subsidiaries of Pegasus Media. "Pegasus Real Estate" refers to
Pegasus Real Estate Company, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pegasus
Communications. Other terms used are defined as necessary where they first
appear.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We have a history of losses principally due to the substantial amounts
incurred for interest expense and noncash depreciation and amortization by
Pegasus Satellite. Consolidated net losses were $151.0 million, $153.6 million,
and $278.4 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We have an accumulated
deficit balance of $1.1 billion at March 31, 2004.

We are highly leveraged on a consolidated basis. At March 31, 2004, we
had long term debt (including the portion that is current) of approximately $1.4
billion, substantially all of which was outstanding at Pegasus Satellite and its
subsidiaries. In addition, we had $326.7 million of redeemable preferred stock
outstanding, including accrued and unpaid dividends and dividends considered to
be interest. Of this amount, $112.4 million is outstanding at Pegasus Satellite
and $214.3 million is outstanding at Pegasus Communications. Total consolidated
cash at March 31, 2004 was $64.2 million, of which $55.2 million was held by
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite.

We dedicate a substantial portion of cash to pay amounts associated
with debt. In fiscal years 2003 and 2002, Pegasus Satellite paid interest of
$118.8 million and $111.0 million, respectively. Our high leverage makes us more
vulnerable to adverse economic and industry conditions and limits our
flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and the
industries in which we operate. Our ability to make payments on and to refinance
indebtedness and redeemable preferred stock outstanding and to fund operations,
planned capital expenditures, and other activities and to fund preferred stock
requirements depends on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability
to generate cash depends on the success of our business strategy, prevailing
economic conditions, regulatory risks, competitive activities by other parties,
the business strategies of DIRECTV, Inc. and the National Rural
Telecommunications Cooperative ("NRTC"), equipment strategies, technological
developments, levels of programming costs and subscriber acquisition costs,
levels of interest rates, and financial, business, and other factors that are
beyond our control. We cannot assure that our business will generate sufficient
cash flows from operations or that alternative financing will be available to us
in amounts sufficient to fund the needs previously specified. Our indebtedness
and preferred stock contain numerous covenants that, among other things,
generally limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness and liens, issue
other securities, make certain payments and investments, pay dividends, transfer
cash, dispose of assets, and enter into other transactions, and impose
limitations on the activities of our subsidiaries. Failure to make debt payments
or comply with covenants could result in an event of default that, if not cured
or waived, could adversely impact us.

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY

On April 14, 2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV,
Inc. in the Seamless Marketing litigation. The jury's verdict awarded DIRECTV,
Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and open book account
claims. On April 16, 2004 DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
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that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered with
respect to the $51.5 million verdict and interest, if any. See Note 13. The
Court could rule on the request for an award of prejudgment interest at any
time, and we expect that the judgment with respect to the $51.5 million verdict
and prejudgment interest will be entered after or concurrently with that
determination. The Court also has not determined the amount of the bond or other
collateral that may be required to be posted by Pegasus Satellite Television in
order to stay execution on the judgment pending an appeal of the judgment. The
amount of the bond or other collateral may exceed the amount of the verdict plus
prejudgment interest. In order to post a bond, Pegasus Satellite will likely be
required to collateralize the bond with cash or other liquid assets in an amount
equal to or in excess of the amount of the bond.

Pegasus Satellite is currently considering all available alternatives
that would enable it to address the judgment. As of May 14, 2004, however,
Pegasus Satellite Television's available cash and projected cash generation are
not sufficient to enable it to pay the judgment and we cannot provide any
assurance that Pegasus Satellite Television will be able to do so within the
required time period after the judgment is entered. The failure to pay the
judgment or post collateral or a bond pending appeal of the verdict within the
required time period, which could be as little as two weeks after the judgment
is entered, would entitle DIRECTV, Inc. to execute on the judgment. Such an
occurrence would be disruptive to Pegasus Satellite Television's operations.
Pegasus Satellite Television's failure to pay, bond or satisfy the judgment
would result, after the expiration of additional specified time periods, in
events of default under the Pegasus Media credit agreement, the Pegasus
Satellite term loan agreement, and Pegasus Satellite's publicly held debt
securities. Failure by Pegasus Satellite Television to satisfy the judgment or
bond the judgment pending appeal or defaults under the indebtedness of Pegasus
Satellite and Pegasus Media, unless such defaults were waived, might obligate
Pegasus Satellite Television, Pegasus Satellite and/or Pegasus Media to seek
protection under the bankruptcy laws. We do not believe that Pegasus
Communications or its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite would be
the subject of such proceedings, if they were to occur, since Pegasus
Communications is not obligated under the expected judgment or the indebtedness
of Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus Media. As of March 31, 2004 and May 14, 2004,
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite
had available cash of $55.2 million and approximately $60.0 million,
respectively.

Pegasus Satellite may seek to meet its other short and longer term
needs by issuing new debt and/or equity securities, refinancing existing debt
and/or preferred stock outstanding, continuing to extend maturities of existing
debt by issuing debt with later maturities in exchange for debt with earlier
maturities, or securing some other form of financing. Our financing options and
opportunities will be impacted by the results of our litigation and contractual
disputes with DIRECTV, Inc. and by conditions in the capital markets due to
general economic conditions, and in particular, the economic conditions in the
cable and satellite sector, over which we have no control. However, we cannot
make any assurances that Pegasus Satellite will be successful in meeting such
needs and continue in its present form. See Note 15.

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As a result of the verdict in the Seamless Marketing litigation and the
resulting risks and uncertainties discussed above, we performed an analysis of
our direct broadcast satellite rights to determine whether any impairment had
occurred. No impairment charge was required because the projected undiscounted
cash flows associated with this asset group exceed the carrying amount of the
asset group. As discussed in Note 13, an unfavorable ruling that the initial
term of our agreements with the NRTC is determined by DBS-1 could have a
material adverse impact on our business and would lead to a reassessment of the
carrying amount of our direct broadcast satellite rights, as the underlying
assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows associated with those rights
could change (ignoring any renewal rights or alternatives to generate cash flows
from our subscriber base).

On April 26, 2004, a major rating agency reduced the corporate credit
rating for Pegasus Communications, Pegasus Satellite, and Pegasus Media from
CCC+ to CCC. We believe that this downgrade will not have a significant impact
on our liquidity and capital resources because our rating prior to the downgrade
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was generally considered to be speculative. Our access to external sources of
liquidity and capital resources will be impacted more by the results of our
litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. and by conditions in the capital markets due to
general economic conditions, and in particular, the economic conditions in the
cable and satellite sector, over which we have no control.

OPERATIONS

Our principal business is the direct broadcast satellite business. For
the three months ended March 31, 2004, the direct broadcast satellite business
had a $4.1 million loss from operations compared to income from operations of
$10.7 million for the same period of 2003. The decline in the current year was
due to incremental litigation verdict expense of $17.3 million and incremental
depreciation expense of $5.1 million as a result of the unfavorable litigation
verdict. See Note 13 for further information. Excluding the impact of the
litigation verdict, the direct broadcast satellite business had income from
operations of $18.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004, an
increase of $7.6 million compared to the same period of 2003. Expenses related
to the litigation verdict were partially offset by current year improvement in
operating results as a result of our direct broadcast satellite business
strategy. This strategy focuses on increasing the quality of new subscribers and
the composition of our existing subscriber base, enhancing the returns on
investment in our subscribers, generating free cash flow, and preserving
liquidity. The primary focus of our "Quality First" strategy is to improve the
quality and creditworthiness of our subscriber base. Our goal is to acquire and
retain high quality subscribers, to cause average subscribers to become high
quality subscribers, and to reduce acquisition and retention investments in low
quality subscribers. To achieve these goals, our subscriber acquisition,
development, and retention efforts focus on subscribers who are less likely to
churn and who are more likely to subscribe to more programming services,
including local and network programming, and to use multiple receivers. "Churn"
refers to subscribers whose service has terminated. Our strategy includes a
significant emphasis on credit scoring of potential subscribers, adding and
upgrading subscribers in markets where DIRECTV, Inc. offers local channels, and
obtaining subscribers who use multiple receivers. It is our experience that
these attributes are closely correlated with lower churn, increased cash flow,
and higher returns on investment. Our strategy also includes the use of
behavioral and predictive scores to group subscribers and to design retention
campaigns, upgrade offers, and consumer offers consistent with our emphasis on
acquiring and retaining high quality subscribers and reducing our investment in
lower quality subscribers.

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Continued improvement in results from operations, excluding expenses
related to the litigation verdict, will in large part depend upon our obtaining
a sufficient number of quality subscribers, retention of these subscribers for
extended periods of time, and improving margins from them. While our direct
broadcast satellite business strategy has resulted in an increase in income from
operations, that strategy along with other very significant factors has
contributed to a certain extent to the decrease in the number of subscribers for
the three months ended March 31, 2004 and a decrease in direct broadcast
satellite net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2004 compared to the
same period last year. These other factors include a significant competitive
disadvantage that we experience in a large number of our territories in which
EchoStar Communications Corporation ("EchoStar"), a competing direct broadcast
satellite provider, provides local channels but DIRECTV, Inc. does not;
competition from EchoStar other than with respect to local channels; and
competition from digital cable providers. The number of territories in which we
are disadvantaged by not providing local channel service increased in 2003 and
in the first quarter of 2004, and we believe will continue to increase through
May 2004 because of DIRECTV, Inc.'s delay in launching its DIRECTV 7S spot beam
satellite to provide local channels in markets where EchoStar offers or is
introducing local channels, and DIRECTV, Inc.'s failure to provide certain of
our key markets with local channels. DIRECTV, Inc. launched its 7S spot beam
satellite on May 4, 2004. We expect that our direct broadcast satellite business
strategy and the other factors discussed above will result in further decreases
in the number of our direct broadcast satellite subscribers and our direct
broadcast satellite net revenues when compared to prior periods, but we believe
that our results from operations for the direct broadcast satellite business
will not be significantly impacted. We cannot make any assurances that this will
be the case, however. If a disproportionate number of subscribers churn relative
to the number of quality subscribers we enroll, we are not able to enroll a
sufficient number of quality subscribers, and/or we are not able to maintain
adequate margins from our subscribers, our results from operations may not
improve or improved results that do occur may not be sustained.
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Dividends on all of our preferred stock series are in arrears. See
Notes 3 and 4 for further information.

We have been involved in significant litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. in
addition to the Seamless Marketing litigation referenced above. While this other
litigation has been concluded in the United States District Court, Central
District of California, the parties may still appeal rulings in those
proceedings. An unfavorable outcome in this litigation could adversely impact
our direct broadcast satellite business. Our litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. may
have a bearing on our estimation of the useful lives of our direct broadcast
satellite rights assets. See Note 13 for further information. Because we are a
distributor of DIRECTV, we may be adversely affected by any material adverse
changes in the assets, financial condition, programming, technological
capabilities, or services of DIRECTV, Inc.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited financial statements herein include the accounts of
Pegasus Communications and all of its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. All
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The balance sheets
and statements of cash flows are presented on a condensed basis. These financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and
Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States of America for complete financial statements. The financial
statements reflect all adjustments consisting of normal recurring items that, in
our opinion, are necessary for a fair presentation, in all material respects, of
our financial position and the results of our operations and comprehensive loss
and our cash flows for the interim period. The interim results of operations
contained herein may not necessarily be indicative of the results of operations
for the full fiscal year. Prior year amounts have been reclassified where
appropriate to conform to the current year classification for comparative
purposes.

We account for stock options and restricted stock issued using the
intrinsic value method. The following table illustrates the estimated pro forma
effect on our net loss and basic and diluted per common share amounts for the
net loss applicable to common shares if we had applied the fair value method in
recognizing stock based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share
amounts) :

10

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

<S>

Net loss, as reported

Add: stock based employee compensation expense, net of income tax, included
in net loss, as reported

Deduct: stock based employee compensation expense, net of income tax,
determined under fair value method

Net loss, pro forma

Basic and diluted per common share amounts (see Note 8):
Net loss applicable to common shares, as reported

Net loss applicable to common shares, pro forma
</TABLE>

No actual stock based employee compensation expense with respect to
stock options was recorded within the periods included in the table.

3. REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCKS

The net decrease in the aggregate carrying amount from December 31,
2003 to March 31, 2004 was due to the issuance of 125,000 shares of 6-1/2%
Series C convertible preferred stock ("Series C") with a par value of $12.5
million in January 2004 in exchange for all of the remaining 12,500 shares of
our Series D junior convertible participating preferred stock ("Series D") with
a par value of $12.5 million, partially offset by dividends of $3.2 million
accrued during the period. No cash was transferred in the exchange. As of the
date of the exchange, the Series D shares had accumulated dividends in arrears
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Three Months
Ended March 31,

2004
<C>
S (68,378)
2,217
(3,199)
$ (69,360)
S (11.79)
S (11.97)

(restated-see Note 15)
<C>

S (38,444)

(909)
$ (39,353)
$ (7.90)
S (8.06)
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of $1.0 million. Dividends on Series C shares are in arrears, and the Series C
shares exchanged were issued with dividends in arrears as of the date of the
exchange of $1.6 million. The exchange was accounted for as a capital
transaction involving equity securities and accordingly, no gain or loss was
recognized. A discount of $4.9 million was recognized on the Series C shares
issued in the exchange. Since redemption of Series C is uncertain, the discount
is not accreted to the shares' carrying amount nor is it included for purposes
of determining the preferred stock dividend requirement in per share
computations. Accretion of the difference will commence when redemption of the
series is known or becomes probable.

We also recorded dividends on Series C of $3.1 million, on Series D of
$32 thousand, and on Series E junior convertible participating preferred stock
("Series E") of $27 thousand during the first three months of 2004. The change
in the carrying amount of preferred stock for the three months ended March 31,
2004 was as follows (in thousands) :

Dividends accrued on preferred stock s 3,189
Dividends in arrears on Series C issued in exchange 1,609
Elimination of Series D accumulated dividends in exchange (1,031)
Discount on Series C issued in exchange (4,938)

$ (1,171)

As permitted by the certificate of designation for the Series C,
Pegasus Communications' board of directors has the discretion to declare or not
to declare any scheduled quarterly dividends for Series C. Since January 31,
2002, the board of directors has only declared a dividend of $100 thousand on
the series, which was paid with shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common
stock. The total amount of dividends in arrears on Series C at March 31, 2004
was $23.9 million. The dividend of $3.2 million scheduled to be declared on
April 30, 2004 was not declared. Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears
until paid.

11

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

While dividends are in arrears on preferred stock senior to the Series
E, our board of directors may not declare dividends on and we may not redeem
shares of this series. The Series C preferred stock is senior to these series.
Because dividends on the Series C preferred stock are in arrears, the annual
dividends scheduled to be declared and paid for Series E preferred stock on
January 1, 2004 of $119 thousand were not declared and became in arrears on that
date. Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears until paid. As of March 31,
2004, $238 thousand of dividends on the Series E preferred stock were in
arrears. While dividends on preferred stock senior to Series E is in arrears, we
are not permitted nor obligated to redeem the related shares of this series.
Under these circumstances, our inability to redeem the shares of this series is
not an event of default.

4. REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK OF SUBSIDIARY

Pegasus Satellite's 12-3/4% cumulative exchangeable preferred stock
("12-3/4% Series") is mandatorily redeemable on January 1, 2007 at its
liquidation preference value, plus accrued and unpaid dividends on that date.
This series of preferred stock is a financial instrument within the scope of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("FAS") No. 150 that has the
characteristics of a liability as specified therein. Dividends accrued and
accretion of discount associated with this series on and after the date of our
adoption of FAS 150 have been charged to interest expense, with accrued and
unpaid dividends being classified to a noncurrent liability. The dividends for
this series are classified as noncurrent because we have the ability and intent
to not declare or pay the dividends within the next 12 months.

The combined balance of the 12-3/4% series at March 31, 2004 was $112.3
million, consisting of $86.0 million of mandatorily redeemable preferred stock
and $26.3 million of accrued and unpaid dividends in other noncurrent
liabilities, compared to the balance of the series at December 31, 2003 of
$108.9 million, consisting of $85.5 million of mandatorily redeemable preferred
stock and $23.4 million of accrued and unpaid dividends in other noncurrent
liabilities. The change was primarily due to dividends accrued of $2.9 million
and accretion of discount of $526 thousand.

As permitted by the certificate of designation for this series, our
board of directors has the discretion to declare or not to declare any scheduled
quarterly dividends for this series. The board of directors has not declared any
of the scheduled semiannual dividends for this series since January 1, 2002.
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Dividends in arrears to unaffiliated parties at March 31, 2004 were $23.4
million, with accrued interest thereon of $3.5 million. Dividends not declared
accumulate in arrears and incur interest at a rate of 14.75% per year until
paid.

At March 31, 2004, the number of shares of the 12-3/4% series
outstanding for Pegasus Satellite was 183,978, with a carrying amount of $231.0
million, including accrued dividends of $52.8 million. Dividends in arrears on
this series at March 31, 2004 for Pegasus Satellite were $46.9 million, with
interest thereon of $6.9 million. The difference in these amounts from those on
a consolidated balance indicated above is due to the shares of this series owned
by Pegasus Communications that were eliminated in consolidation. The liquidation
value of the series for Pegasus Satellite at March 31, 2004 was $236.6 million.
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5. COMMON STOCK

The number of shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common stock at
March 31, 2004 was 5,594,730 issued and 4,904,035 outstanding, and at December
31, 2003 was 5,443,497 issued and 4,761,393 outstanding. The change in the
number of shares outstanding during the three months ended March 31, 2004 was as
follows:

Shares issued for employee benefit and award plans 151,103
Shares surrendered for employee benefit and award plans (8,591)
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 130

142,642

No dividends were declared or paid for common stocks during the three
months ended March 31, 2004.

6. CHANGES IN OTHER STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The change in other stockholders' equity from December 31, 2003 to
March 31, 2004 consisted of (in thousands):

Net loss $(68,378)
Increase (decrease) to additional paid in capital for:
Common stock issued 2,547
Preferred stock dividends accrued (3,189)
Deemed dividends associated with exchange of preferred
stock 6,081
Exchange of preferred stock (1,720)
Class A common stock held by variable interest entities
classified as treasury stock (2,427)
Class B common stock held by variable interest entity
classified as treasury stock (208)
Other treasury stock transactions (249)
$(67,543)

7. LONG TERM DEBT

In December 2003, Pegasus Media entered into a new revolving credit
facility with an aggregate commitment of $20.0 million that expires July 31,
2006. However, availability under the new revolving credit facility is limited,
such that the aggregate amount of debt outstanding under this facility and
Pegasus Media's credit agreement cannot exceed $410.0 million through July 31,
2005 and $250.0 million thereafter. Amounts available to be borrowed under the
revolving credit facility are reduced by amounts outstanding for letters of
credit issued under the facility. Borrowed amounts repaid may be reborrowed. At
March 31, 2004, there were no outstanding balances under the revolving credit
facility, and the amount available to be borrowed under the revolving credit
facility was $18.2 million.
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In January 2004, Pegasus Satellite completed an exchange in which it
issued an aggregate of $1.0 million principal amount of its 11-1/4% series notes
in exchange for $1.0 million principal amount of outstanding notes of 9-5/8%
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notes. This transaction was accounted for as an exchange because the net present
values of the cash flows of the respective series in the exchange were not
substantially different. Accordingly, no gain or loss was recognized. The
unamortized balance of debt issue costs associated with the previously
outstanding notes received in this exchange was unchanged and is being amortized
to interest expense over the remainder of the term of the new notes issued.
Generally, in exchanges of debt that are not extinguishments there are no
changes in the net carrying amounts of debt recorded before and after the
exchanges.

In February 2004, Pegasus Media and its lenders entered into an
amendment to its credit facility. The amendment, among other things, allows us
to incur additional senior secured debt such that Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus
Media can have total senior secured debt of up to $650.0 million.

Pegasus Satellite has a note payable to Pegasus Communications that was
eliminated in consolidation. The balance of this note at March 31, 2004 was
$42.0 million.

The following table shows the debt outstanding at March 31, 2004
compared to December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the activity described
above (in thousands) :

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

MARCH 31,

2004

<S> <C>
Initial term loan facility of Pegasus Media due April 2005........ $ 75,631
Incremental term loan facility of Pegasus Media due July 2005..... 17,636
9-5/8% senior notes of Pegasus Satellite due October 2005......... 80,591
Tranche D term loan facility of Pegasus Media due July 2006, net

of unamortized discount of $3.8 million and $4.2 million,

TESPECEIVE LYt ittt ittt e et e et e et et e 294,685
12-3/8% senior notes of Pegasus Satellite due August 2006......... 158,205
9-3/4% senior notes of Pegasus Satellite due December 2006........ 71,055
13-1/2% senior subordinated discount notes of Pegasus Satellite due

March 2007, net of unamortized discount of $2.7 million in 2003. 128,790
12-1/2% senior notes of Pegasus Satellite due August 2007......... 118,521
Termloan facility of Pegasus Satellite due August 2009, net of

unamortized discount of $8.3 million and $8.5 million,

B Y=g oY i A2 N 96,054
11-1/4% senior notes of Pegasus Satellite due January 2010, net of

unamortized net premium of $1.0 million in each period........ 342,882
Mortgage payable at Pegasus Real Estate due 2010, interest at 9.25% 8,374
Other note due 2004 with stated interest of 6.75%................. -

1,392,424
Less current MatuUrities . vttt ittt eeeaanan 19,625
Long term debl ..ttt ittt ettt e et e et e e e $ 1,372,799

</TABLE>
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8. PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS

Basic and diluted per common share and related weighted average number
of common share amounts were the same within each period reported because
potential common shares were antidilutive and were excluded from the computation
due to our loss from continuing operations. The number of shares of potential
common stock derived from convertible preferred stocks, warrants, and stock
options at March 31, 2004 was 2.4 million.

Net loss and results from continuing operations are adjusted for
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DECEMBER 31,
2003

17,636

81,591

295,025

158,205

71,055

126,076

118,521

94,221

341,893

8,349

3,157
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dividends and accretion on preferred stocks to arrive at the amount applicable
to common shares. Such amounts for the periods presented were as follows (in
thousands) :

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2004 2003

Accrued dividends s 3,189 S 6,130
Accumulated dividends on Series C issued in

exchange for Series D 1,609 -

Elimination of Series D accumulated dividends (1,032) -

Accretion - 526

$ 3,766 $ 6,656

9. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Significant noncash investing and financing activities were as follows
(in thousands) :

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2004 2003
Preferred stock dividends accrued and accretion $ 3,766 S 6,656
Common stock issued for employee benefits and awards 2,547 325
Interest added to principal for Pegasus Satellite $100
million term loan 1,661 -

10. INCOME TAXES

In the first quarter of 2004, we recorded an increase of $22.0 million
to the valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred income tax asset
balance at March 31, 2004. The increase to the valuation allowance was a charge
to income taxes that offset income tax benefits provided by net operating
losses. The net deferred income tax asset balance at March 31, 2004 was $107.2
million, offset by a valuation allowance in the same amount. A valuation
allowance sufficient to reduce the net deferred income tax asset balance to zero
at March 31, 2004 was necessary because it was more likely than not that the
benefits of the net deferred income tax asset will not be realized, based on our
history of losses. The effect of the valuation allowance reduced our overall
effective income tax rate on continuing operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2004 to zero.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2003, we completed the sale of three broadcast television stations
in two separate transactions. One station was located in Mobile, Alabama and the
other two stations were located in Mississippi. The aggregate sale price was
$24.9 million of cash, and we recognized a net gain of $10.3 million, including
a gain of $7.4 million in the first three months of 2003. The operations of
these stations, including the net gain recognized on the sales, are classified
as discontinued in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss for all
periods presented. For the three months ended March 31, 2003, aggregate revenues
and pretax income from discontinued operations were $1.2 million and $7.2
million, respectively.

In a separate but concurrent transaction to the sale of the Mississippi
stations, we waived our rights under an option agreement to acquire a broadcast
television construction permit held by KB Prime Media and consented to the sale
of the permit to an unaffiliated party. As consideration for our waiver and
consent, we received $1.5 million that we recorded as other nonoperating income.
In association with this transaction, $2.6 million of our cash collateralizing
certain debt of KB Prime Media was released. Pegasus Satellite is party to an
option agreement with W.W. Keen Butcher, certain entities controlled by Mr.
Butcher (the "KB Prime Media Companies"), and the owner of a minority interest
in KB Prime Media. Mr. Butcher is the stepfather of Marshall W. Pagon, chairman
of the board of directors and chief executive officer of Pegasus Satellite and
Pegasus Communications. KB Prime Media is one of the KB Prime Media Companies.
Effective March 31, 2004, we began consolidating the KB Prime Media Companies as
a variable interest entity under the provisions of Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities" ("FIN 46"). See Note 14.
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12. INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

Our only reportable segment at March 31, 2004 was our direct broadcast
satellite business. Information on the direct broadcast satellite business'
revenue and how it contributed to our consolidated loss from continuing
operations before income taxes for each period reported is as presented on the
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The direct broadcast satellite
business derived all of its revenues from external customers for each period
presented. Identifiable total assets for the direct broadcast satellite business
were approximately $1.6 billion at March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003.

Our chief operating decision makers use the measure "Direct broadcast
satellite operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization," as
adjusted for special items, to evaluate our direct broadcast satellite segment.
This measure is calculated as the direct broadcast satellite business' net
operating revenue less its operating expenses (excluding depreciation and
amortization), as adjusted for the litigation verdict as derived from the
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Legal Matters
DIRECTV, Inc. Litigation

Pegasus Satellite Television, Inc. and Golden Sky Systems, Inc. and
their subsidiaries (together, "Pegasus Satellite Television") are affiliates of
the NRTC that participate through 160 agreements in the NRTC's direct broadcast
satellite program. DIRECTV, Inc. and the NRTC are parties to an agreement called
the DBS Distribution Agreement, as amended (the "DBS Distribution Agreement").
Pegasus Satellite Television and the NRTC are parties to agreements called the
NRTC/Member Agreements for the Marketing and Distribution of DBS Services, as
amended (the "NRTC/Member Agreements"). "DIRECTV" refers to the programming
services provided by DIRECTV, Inc.
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In 1999, the NRTC filed two lawsuits in United States District Court,
Central District of California against DIRECTV, Inc. seeking, among other
things, enforcement of the NRTC's contractual rights to obtain from DIRECTV,
Inc. (i) certain premium programming (including HBO, Cinemax, Showtime, and The
Movie Channel) for exclusive distribution by the NRTC's members and affiliates
in their rural markets, (ii) certain advanced services (such as Tivo) for
exclusive distribution, and (iii) the NRTC's share of launch fees and other
benefits that DIRECTV, Inc. and its affiliates obtain relating to programming
and other services. DIRECTV, Inc. filed a counterclaim seeking a declaration
clarifying the initial term (or duration) of the DBS Distribution Agreement, and
its obligations after that initial term. The NRTC and DIRECTV, Inc. have entered
into a settlement of these claims, which is described more fully below.

In 2000, Pegasus Satellite Television filed a lawsuit in the same
federal court against DIRECTV, Inc. asserting claims seeking declaratory relief
and various torts and unfair business practices claims under California law
seeking damages (including punitive damages) and restitution and injunctive
relief. These claims assert DIRECTV, Inc.'s failure to provide the NRTC with the
premium programming, advanced services, launch fees, and other benefits and
declarations regarding DIRECTV, Inc.'s positions on the initial term of the DBS
Distribution Agreement and its obligations after that initial term. A class of
participants in the NRTC's direct broadcast satellite project other than Pegasus
Satellite Television filed a lawsuit asserting similar claims against DIRECTV,
Inc. in the same court. DIRECTV, Inc. filed counterclaims against Pegasus
Satellite Television and the class members asserting claims for declaratory
relief regarding the initial term of the NRTC/Member Agreement and DIRECTV,
Inc.'s obligations to Pegasus Satellite Television and the class members after
the initial term. The class and DIRECTV, Inc. settled their claims, and the
Court dismissed Pegasus Satellite Television's claims against DIRECTV, Inc. and
DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim against Pegasus, as described more fully below.

The initial term of our NRTC/Member Agreements with the NRTC (and the
NRTC's DBS Distribution Agreement with DIRECTV, Inc. until modified by the
settlement) is not stated according to a period of years but is based on the
lives of a satellite or satellites. We believe that it is governed by the lives
of the satellite resources available to DIRECTV, Inc. at the 101 (degree) west
longitude orbital location for delivery of services under those agreements.
DIRECTV, Inc. sought in its counterclaim against Pegasus Satellite Television, a
declaratory judgment that the initial term of Pegasus Satellite Television's
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NRTC/Member Agreements is measured only by the life of DBS-1, the first DIRECTV
satellite launched, and not the orbital lives of the other DIRECTV, Inc.
satellites at the 101 (degree) west longitude orbital location. DBS-1 suffered a
failure of one of its two satellite control processors in 1998. DIRECTV, Inc.
has stated in documents filed with the SEC that DBS-1 has an estimated fuel life
through 2009, although it has also indicated its belief that the fuel life for
purposes of our direct broadcast satellite rights is 2007. If DIRECTV, Inc. were
to prevail on its counterclaim (which although dismissed, could be appealed),
the initial term of our DIRECTV rights would likely be shorter than a term based
on other satellite(s) at the 101 (degree) west longitude orbital location
providing us programming services, which we believe measure(s) the initial term.
Moreover, any premature failure of DBS-1 could adversely impact our DIRECTV
rights and our business. During the course of the litigation, DIRECTV, Inc.
twice filed summary judgment motions seeking declarations that the term under
both the DBS Distribution Agreement and the NRTC/Member Agreement is measured by
DBS-1. The motions were denied by orders of the court in 2001 and 2003. DIRECTV,
Inc. filed a motion for reconsideration of the court's denial of DIRECTV, Inc.'s
2001 motion relating to term under the NRTC/Member Agreement. That motion was
rendered moot by order of the Court entered on May 12, 2004 when the Court
granted the motion of Pegasus Satellite Television to dismiss DIRECTV, Inc.'s
counterclaim, as more fully described below.
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While the NRTC obtained a right of first refusal to receive certain
services after the expiration of the term of the NRTC's DBS Distribution
Agreement with DIRECTV, Inc., the scope and terms of this right of first refusal
were disputed as part of DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim against the NRTC. In
December 1999, DIRECTV, Inc. filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking
an order that the right of first refusal does not include programming services
and is limited to 20 program channels of transponder capacity, which the court
denied in 2001. DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim against Pegasus Satellite
Television also sought a declaratory judgment that DIRECTV, Inc. is not under a
contractual obligation to provide Pegasus Satellite Television with services
after the expiration of the term of its agreements with the NRTC. In 2003, the
court granted a summary Jjudgment motion of DIRECTV, Inc. ruling that DIRECTV,
Inc. has no obligation to provide Pegasus Satellite Television with services
after the NRTC/Member Agreements expire, except that the ruling specifically
does not affect: (1) obligations the NRTC has or may have to Pegasus Satellite
Television under the NRTC/Member Agreements or otherwise; (2) obligations
DIRECTV, Inc. has or may have, in the event it steps into the shoes of the NRTC
as the provider of services to Pegasus Satellite Television; or (3) fiduciary or
cooperative obligations to deliver services owed Pegasus Satellite Television by
DIRECTV, Inc. through the NRTC.

Before the cases were set to go to trial, the court dismissed the tort
and punitive damages claims of Pegasus Satellite Television, and its claims for
restitution with respect to premium services, launch fees, and advanced
services.

The lawsuits described above, including the NRTC, class and Pegasus
Satellite Television lawsuits were set to be tried together in phases beginning
August 14, 2003. After DIRECTV, Inc. and the NRTC informed the court of a
settlement among DIRECTV, Inc., the NRTC, and the class relating to all of their
claims, conditioned on a satisfactory fairness hearing in the class action
lawsuit, the court vacated the trial date. Pegasus Satellite Television is not a
party to the settlement, which was formally available for its participation
until March 8, 2004. A copy of the settlement has been filed as exhibits 99.1
and 99.2 to Pegasus Communications' Form 8-K filed on August 13, 2003.

Among other things, the settlement amends the DBS Distribution
Agreement between DIRECTV, Inc. and the NRTC to: (i) change the expiration date
of the initial term of that agreement to the later of the date that DBS-1 is
removed from its assigned orbital location under certain specified conditions or
June 30, 2008; (ii) eliminate the contractually provided rights after the
initial term but provide an extension of the term through either December 31,
2009 or June 30, 2011 at the election of the participating member or affiliate
and subject to acceptance of certain conditions; (iii) eliminate the
contractually provided right to provide the premiums as exclusive distributor
and replace it with a right to provide the premiums on an agency basis; (iv)
redefine the contractually provided rights to launch fees and advertising
revenues; (v) relinquish claims relating to past damages and restitution on
account of the premiums, launch fees, and advertising revenues; and (vi) accept
an agency role for the sale of certain advanced services, including Tivo.

On September 24, 2003, Pegasus Satellite Television moved to intervene
in the lawsuits between the NRTC and DIRECTV, Inc. for the limited purpose of
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objecting to the proposed settlement. Based primarily on the court's finding
that it should reverse its reasoning in a prior holding allowing Pegasus
Satellite Television to pursue declaratory relief under the DBS Distribution
Agreement, the court, on November 13, 2003, declined to permit Pegasus Satellite
Television to intervene in the NRTC actions. However, the court also ruled that
Pegasus Satellite Television's rights under its agreements with the NRTC are not
affected by the proposed settlement and that notwithstanding the proposed
settlement, Pegasus Satellite Television is free to seek to enforce its rights
under those agreements. A copy of the order denying the Pegasus Satellite
Television motion to intervene has been filed as exhibit 99.2 to Pegasus
Communications' Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2003.
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On December 4, 2003, Pegasus Satellite Television filed with the court
a motion for clarification and contingent motion for reconsideration or, in the
alternative, a stay pending appeal. In this motion, Pegasus Satellite Television
sought among other things, clarification of the court's November 13, 2003 order
denying Pegasus Satellite Television's motion to intervene in the NRTC/DIRECTV,
Inc. lawsuits. Among other things, Pegasus Satellite Television asked the court
to clarify whether the court's ruling means that Pegasus Satellite Television is
entitled to compel performance of its rights under the NRTC/Member Agreements,
particularly in light of assertions to the contrary by DIRECTV, Inc. The court
declined to provide such clarification and denied Pegasus Satellite Television's
motion. Pegasus Satellite Television appealed the district court's ruling to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Pegasus Satellite
Television sought from the court of appeals a stay of the dismissal of the NRTC
lawsuits and the settlement between the NRTC and DIRECTV, Inc., pending
resolution of the appeal. On December 22, 2003, the court of appeals denied the
stay. Pegasus has since dismissed its appeal.

The fairness hearing for the class settlement occurred on January 5,
2004, and the court subsequently issued a final order approving that settlement.
A copy of the order granting final approval of the class settlement has been
filed as exhibit 99.1 to Pegasus Communications' Form 8-K filed on January 8,
2004. As a result, the settlement between the NRTC and DIRECTV, Inc. has, by its
terms, become effective.

On January 8, 2004, the court set a briefing schedule for further
motions in the Pegasus Satellite Television litigation against DIRECTV, Inc.
DIRECTV, Inc. filed a motion to dismiss the remaining Pegasus Satellite
Television claims, including our declaratory relief claims relating to the
initial term and rights after term under the DBS Distribution Agreement and our
unfair competition law claims relating to premiums, advanced services, and
launch fees. As discussed above, DIRECTV, Inc. also filed a motion for
reconsideration of the court's 2001 order denying DIRECTV, Inc.'s motion for
summary judgment seeking a declaration that the term of the NRTC/Member
Agreement is governed by DBS-1. In addition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s motions, Pegasus
Satellite Television filed a motion to dismiss DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim
relating to the term of the NRTC/Member Agreement in the event that the court
grants DIRECTV, Inc.'s motion to dismiss Pegasus Satellite Television's claims.
The court held a hearing on these motions on April 28, 2004. On May 12, 2004,
the Court granted DIRECTV, Inc.'s motion to dismiss the remaining claims of
Pegasus Satellite Television and also granted Pegasus Satellite Television's
contingent motion to dismiss DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim. In addition, the
Court ruled that DIRECTV, Inc.'s motion for reconsideration was moot because
DIRECTV, Inc.'s counterclaim was dismissed. Based upon the foregoing, the
proceedings in that Court have been concluded. Pegasus Satellite Television and
DIRECTV, Inc. have 30 days within which to appeal rulings in the case, including
the Court's May 12, 2004 rulings. A copy of the order relating to these motions
has been filed as exhibit 99.3 to Pegasus Communications' Form 8-K filed on May
17, 2004.

We believe, based on the rulings of the Court, that the settlement does
not change our rights under our agreements with the NRTC, including our right to
services for a term based on the estimated remaining useful lives of the
satellites at the 101 (degree) west orbital location providing our programming
services. We are in the process of evaluating our options to establish and
enforce our rights in light of the settlement and the Court's rulings.
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Despite the foregoing, an unfavorable ruling that the initial term of
our agreements with the NRTC is determined by DBS-1 could have a material
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adverse impact on our business and would lead to a reassessment of the carrying
amount of our direct broadcast satellite rights, as the underlying assumptions
regarding estimated future cash flows associated with those rights could change
(ignoring any renewal rights or alternatives to generate cash flows from our
subscriber base). Likewise, the election to participate in the settlement
reached among DIRECTV, Inc., the NRTC, and the class, if participation is again
made available, could have a material adverse impact on our business and would
lead to a reassessment of the carrying amounts of our direct broadcast satellite
rights using estimates of future cash flows through June 30, 2011 at the latest
instead of 2016 (ignoring alternatives to generate cash flows from our
subscriber base). In the case of an unfavorable litigation result relating to
the term of our agreements or participation in the settlement, we currently
estimate that we could record an impairment loss with respect to our direct
broadcast satellite rights of between $350 million and $550 million, and that
annual amortization expense for direct broadcast satellite rights could increase
by between $26 million and $45 million.

Seamless Marketing Litigation

In 2001, DIRECTV, Inc. brought suit against Pegasus Satellite
Television for Pegasus Satellite Television's alleged failure to make payments
required by the Seamless Marketing Agreement dated August 9, 2000, as amended,
between DIRECTV, Inc. and Pegasus Satellite Television. The Seamless Marketing
Agreement provided for seamless marketing and sales for DIRECTV retailers and
distributors and also provided for reciprocal obligations by DIRECTV, Inc. and
Pegasus Satellite Television to pay "acquisition fees" to each other under
certain circumstances where subscribers activated DIRECTV service through
dealers to whom the other party had paid a commission. As amended, the agreement
also provided for reciprocal obligations by DIRECTV, Inc. and Pegasus Satellite
Television to make payments to each other in connection with so-called "buy
down" programs under which distributors of DIRECTV equipment were provided
subsidies to lower the cost of such equipment to dealers. Pegasus Satellite
Television filed a cross complaint against DIRECTV, Inc. alleging, among other
things, that DIRECTV, Inc. breached the Seamless Marketing Agreement and
DIRECTV, Inc. engaged in unlawful and/or unfair business practices. In 2002,
Pegasus Satellite Television filed first amended counterclaims against DIRECTV,
Inc. Among other things, the first amended counterclaims added a claim for
rescission of the Seamless Marketing Agreement on the ground of fraudulent
inducement.

The case was tried to a jury commencing on March 23, 2004. On April 14,
2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV, Inc. The jury's verdict
awarded DIRECTV, Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and
open book account claims. In addition, the jury rendered a verdict in DIRECTV,
Inc.'s favor on Pegasus Satellite Television's counterclaim for breach of
contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
Prior to submission of the case to the jury, the judge presiding in the case
granted a motion filed by DIRECTV, Inc. for judgment in its favor on Pegasus
Satellite Television's counterclaim for fraudulent inducement.

On April 16, 2004, DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered. See
Notes 1 and 15.

We had previously accrued expenses of $35.2 million related to amounts
billed and unpaid under the Seamless Marketing agreement in fiscal years 2000
and 2001. In the first quarter of 2004, as a result of the jury's award of $51.5
million and our estimate of interest of $6.5 million, we increased this accrual
by $22.8 million by recording $17.3 million as litigation verdict in the
consolidated statements of operations and $5.5 million as property and equipment
in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The $5.5 million of property and
equipment represents direct broadcast satellite receivers for which we retained
title. In addition, we recorded $5.1 million of depreciation expense related to
this property and equipment.
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Patent Infringement Litigation

On December 4, 2000, Pegasus Development and Personalized Media

Communications, LLC. ("Personalized Media") filed a patent infringement lawsuit
in the United States District Court, District of Delaware against DIRECTV, Inc.,
Hughes Electronics Corporation ("Hughes"), Thomson Consumer Electronics

("Thomson"), and Philips Electronics North America Corporation ("Philips").
Personalized Media is a company with which Pegasus Development has a licensing
arrangement. Pegasus Development and Personalized Media are seeking injunctive
relief and monetary damages for the defendants' alleged patent infringement and
unauthorized manufacture, use, sale, offer to sell, and importation of products,
services, and systems that fall within the scope of Personalized Media's
portfolio of patented media and communications technologies, of which Pegasus
Development is an exclusive licensee within a field of use. The technologies
covered by Pegasus Development's exclusive license include services distributed
to consumers using certain Ku band BSS frequencies and Ka band frequencies,
including frequencies licensed to affiliates of Hughes and used by DIRECTV, Inc.
to provide services to its subscribers.

DIRECTV, Inc. also filed a counterclaim against Pegasus Development
alleging unfair competition under the federal Lanham Act. In a separate
counterclaim, DIRECTV, Inc. alleged that both Pegasus Development's and
Personalized Media's patent infringement lawsuit constitutes "abuse of process."
Those counterclaims have since been dismissed by the court or voluntarily by
DIRECTV, Inc. Separately, Thomson has filed counterclaims against Pegasus
Development, Personalized Media, Gemstar-TV Guide, Inc. (and two Gemstar-TV
Guide affiliated companies, TVG-PMC, Inc. and Starsight Telecast, Inc.),
alleging violations of the federal Sherman Act and California unfair competition
law as a result of alleged licensing practices.

The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation subsequently transferred
Thomson's antitrust/unfair competition counterclaims to an ongoing Multidistrict
Litigation in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia. The Panel found that these counterclaims presented common questions of
fact with actions previously consolidated for pretrial proceedings in the
Northern District of Georgia and that including Thomson's claims in the
coordinated pretrial proceedings would promote the just and efficient conduct of
the litigation.

The Delaware court decided several important motions in favor of
Pegasus Development and Personalized Media. The court granted Pegasus
Development and Personalized Media's motion for leave to amend the complaint to
limit the relief sought and it also granted their motion to bifurcate the trial
into two proceedings to address the patent and antitrust issues separately. The
court denied a motion originally brought by DIRECTV, Inc. and Hughes, which was
later joined by Thomson and Philips, for partial summary judgment under the
doctrine of prosecution laches.

In March 2003, a hearing was held before a special master appointed by
the Delaware district court to recommend constructions of disputed terms in the
patent claims in suit. On March 24, 2003, the special master issued his report,
recommending claim constructions largely favorable to the plaintiffs. The report
of the special master is subject to review by the district judge.

In April 2003, the United States Patent and Trademark Office granted a
petition filed by defendant Thomson seeking reexamination of one of the patents
in suit in the Delaware litigation. Additional petitions seeking Reexamination
of other patents in suit have either already been filed by Thomson, or are
anticipated to be filed in the near future. On April 14, 2003, the defendants
filed a motion in the Delaware district court seeking a stay of the patent
litigation pending completion of reexamination proceedings. On May 14, 2003, the
Delaware district court granted defendants' motion pending a disposition of the
United States Patent and Trademark Office's reexamination of several of the
patents in suit. Also on May 14, 2003, the Delaware district court denied all
pending motions without prejudice. The parties may refile those motions
following the stay and upon the entry of a new scheduling order.
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On March 15, 2004, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia granted Pegasus Development's motion for summary judgment on Thomson's
antitrust counterclaims against Pegasus Development. That ruling concludes
Pegasus Development's involvement in the Georgia Multidistrict Litigation
proceeding.

Other Legal Matters
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In addition to the matters discussed above, from time to time we are
involved with claims that arise in the normal course of our business. We believe
that the ultimate liability, if any, with respect to these claims will not have
a material effect on our consolidated operations, cash flows, or financial
position.

14. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

FIN 46 was originally issued by the FASB in January 2003 and was
revised in December 2003. FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consolidated Financial Statements" to certain
entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support. Effective March 31, 2004, we adopted the provisions of FIN 46 and
initially consolidated the following variable interest entities.

KB Prime Media

We entered into an arrangement in 1998 with W.W. Keen Butcher, the
stepfather of Marshall W. Pagon, and certain entities controlled by Mr. Butcher
and the owner of a minority interest in one of the entities. Under this
agreement, as later amended and modified, we agreed to provide and maintain
collateral for the principal amount of bank loans to Mr. Butcher, his affiliated
entities, and the minority owner. Mr. Butcher and the minority owner are
required to lend or contribute the proceeds of those bank loans to one or more
of the entities owned by Mr. Butcher (the "KB Prime Media Companies") for the
acquisition of television broadcast stations to be programmed by us pursuant to
local marketing agreements or for which we have the right to sell all of the
advertising time pursuant to sales agreements. Under the 1998 arrangement, as
amended, the KB Prime Media Companies granted us an option to purchase all of
its broadcast station licenses, permits, and/or assets, in whole or in part, if
and when permitted by applicable Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") rules
and regulations. The option price is based upon the cost attributed to an asset,
plus compound interest at 12% per year. The arrangement with Mr. Butcher permits
us to realize the benefit or cost savings for programming and collecting
revenues from two or more stations in a television market where the FCC's
ownership rules would otherwise prohibit outright ownership.

In February 2004, the FCC preliminarily granted a new, digital only,
full power construction permit to the KB Prime Media Companies for a broadcast
television station licensed to Hammond, Louisiana to be located in the New
Orleans designated market area. This approval became final in April 2004. In
March 2004, we exercised our option to acquire the construction permit and filed
an application with the FCC to transfer the Hammond station's license to Pegasus
Satellite. The option price for the construction permit is estimated to be $1.5
million and will further reduce, to the extent outstanding, our cash that
collateralizes bank loans of the related party from which we will purchase the
permit. In March 2004, we exercised an option to acquire for approximately $2.0
million a broadcast television station in Scranton, Pennsylvania from the KB
Prime Media Companies. The amount paid by us will further reduce, to the extent
outstanding, our cash that collateralizes bank loans of the related party from
which we will purchase the station. In May 2004, we filed an application with
the FCC to transfer the Scranton station's license to Pegasus Satellite.
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We and KB Prime Media Companies amended the 1998 agreement effective
February 1, 2004 to, among other things, (i) decrease the annual interest rate
from 12% to a rate equal to the borrowing interest rate of the KB Prime Media
Companies (2.9% as of March 31, 2004) plus 3% and (ii) limit the amount of
corporate expenses that would be reimbursed.

At March 31, 2004, Pegasus Media consolidated $4.2 million of assets
and $6.4 million of liabilities of the KB Prime Media Companies. Pursuant to our
arrangement with the KB Prime Media Companies, $6.8 million and $6.6 million of
our cash was used to collateralize bank loans at March 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively. Such cash is classified as other noncurrent assets in the
accompanying balance sheets. Creditors of the KB Prime Media Companies have no
other recourse to us. In addition, the KB Prime Media Companies held 2,574
shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common stock. Such shares had an
aggregate cost basis of $100 thousand and have been classified as treasury
stock.

The consolidation of the KB Prime Media Companies resulted in a
cumulative effect of a $2.1 million loss or $0.37 cents per share for the three
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months ended March 31, 2004.
Pegasus PCS Partners, LP

Pegasus PCS Partners, L.P. ("Pegasus PCS Partners") is a partnership
owned and controlled by Marshall W. Pagon. In January 1996 and April 1999,
Pegasus PCS Partners acquired two personal communications system licenses in
Puerto Rico in FCC auctions. In August 1999, Pegasus Communications made an
investment of $4.8 million in Pegasus PCS Partners in return for a limited
partnership interest. In February 2001 and in May 2001, Pegasus PCS Partners
sold its licenses. Aggregate consideration for the sale of the two licenses was
approximately $30.0 million. Presently, Pegasus PCS Partners' activities consist
principally of investments in related companies.

In February 2002, Pegasus Development granted Mr. Pagon a ten-year
option to purchase its interest in Pegasus PCS Partners for the market value of
that interest, payable in cash or by delivery of marketable securities
(including our securities).

Pegasus Development's investment in Pegasus PCS Partners was accounted
for pursuant to the equity method of accounting prior to March 31, 2004. Pegasus
Development's share of undistributed results of operations of Pegasus PCS
Partners was a loss of $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003.
Pegasus PCS Partners had no income or loss for the three months ended March 31,
2004.

At March 31, 2004, we consolidated $22.0 million of assets and $8.1
million of interests determined not to be the primary beneficiaries under FIN
46. In addition, PCS Partners held 35,500 shares and 7,236 shares of Pegasus
Communications' Class A and Class B common stock, respectively. Such shares had
an aggregate cost basis of $2.5 million and have been classified as treasury
stock.
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Pegasus Capital Holdings, LLC

In addition to the variable interest entities we consolidate, we also
hold a significant variable interest in Pegasus Capital Holdings, LLC ("PCH
LLC"). Pegasus PCS Partners, as a result of a series of investments in 2001,
2002 and 2003, holds approximately $21.8 million of senior preferred equity
interests in PCH LLC at March 31, 2004. PCH LLC is controlled by affiliates of
Marshall W. Pagon. Its principal assets are investments that had an approximate
fair value of $31.0 million at March 31, 2004.

Other

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") finalized Issue
03-06, "Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement
No. 128, “Earnings Per Share'" ("EITF 03-06"). EITF 03-06 provides guidance for
evaluating whether a security meets the definition of a participating security
in FASB Statement 128. This guidance is applicable beginning in the second
quarter of 2004. We are evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF 03-06 on
our financial position and results of operations.

15. RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have restated our previously issued interim financial statements
filed in our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 to properly reflect
income taxes associated with continuing and discontinued operations. The effect
of this restatement is summarized in the table below.

As
Originally As
Reported Restated

Net benefit for income taxes S (2,729) S (972)
Loss before discontinued operations (41,141) (42,898)
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax

expense 4,454 4,454
Net loss (36,687) (38,444)

We will restate in the statements of operations in our 2003 Form 10-K
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 the allocation of income tax
expense (benefit) between continuing operations and discontinued operations. We
will also restate in the unaudited quarterly financial information note to our
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financial statements in our 2003 Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 the allocation of the full year income expense (benefit) among the
quarters of each year, as well as the allocation of the quarterly income tax
expense (benefit) for each year between continuing operations and discontinued
operations. While the restatements of the unaudited quarterly financial
information will result in changes in the amount of net loss by quarter, there
will not be any changes in the amount of net loss for the 2003 and 2002 annual
periods. For the 2003 year, the total impact on the results of operations will
be to decrease the loss from continuing operations and to decrease the income
from discontinued operations by the same amount, resulting in no impact on net
loss for the year. For the 2002 year, there will be no impact on net loss for
the year. These restatements will not have any impact on total income tax
benefit, financial position, or cash flows for the annual periods in which the
changes take place.

We intend to file within a reasonable period of time an amendment to
our 2003 Form 10-K report with the Securities and Exchange Commission to reflect
these changes.

Our independent auditors have advised us that the restatement of the
financial statements will require them to reissue their audit report on the
financial statements. The reissuance of an audit report will involve, among
other things, a going concern evaluation of the liquidity and other analyses
prepared by management at that time.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

This Report contains certain forward looking statements (as such term
is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) and
information relating to Pegasus Communications that are based on the beliefs of
our management, as well as assumptions made by and information currently
available to our management. These statements may differ materially from actual
future events or results. When used in this Report, the words "estimate,"
"project," "believe," "anticipate," "hope," "intend," "expect," and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward looking statements, although not
all forward looking statements contain these identifying words. Any statement
that is not a historical fact, including estimates, projections, future trends
and the outcome of events that have not yet occurred, are forward looking
statements. Such statements reflect our current views with respect to future
events and are subject to unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that
may cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward looking
statements. Such factors include the risks described in this section below and
elsewhere in this Report and, although it is not possible to create a
comprehensive list of all factors that may cause actual results to differ from
our forward looking statements, such factors include, but are not limited to,
the following: general economic and business conditions, both nationally,
internationally, and in the regions in which we operate; catastrophic events,
including acts of terrorism; relationships with and events affecting third
parties like DIRECTV, Inc. and the National Rural Telecommunications Cooperative
("NRTC"); litigation with DIRECTV, Inc., including the judgment when entered
with respect to the Seamless Marketing litigation; the recent change of control
of DIRECTV, Inc.; demographic changes; existing government regulations, and
changes in, or the failure to comply with, government regulations; competition,
including our ability to offer local programming in our direct broadcast
satellite markets; the loss of any significant numbers of subscribers or
viewers; changes in business strategy or development plans; the cost of pursuing
new business initiatives; an expansion of land based communications systems;
technological developments and difficulties; an inability to obtain intellectual
property licenses and to avoid committing intellectual property infringement;
the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; our significant
indebtedness; the availability and terms of capital to fund the expansion of our
businesses; and other factors mentioned in this report and in other reports
filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward looking statements, which
speak only as of the date hereof. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly
release any revisions to these forward looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.

The following discussion of our results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes herein.
We restated our consolidated financial statements for the quarter ended March
31, 2003. See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GENERAL

n non n " "

All references to "we, us, and "our" refer to Pegasus Communications
Corporation, together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries. "Pegasus
Communications" refers to Pegasus Communications Corporation individually as a
separate entity. "Pegasus Satellite" refers to Pegasus Satellite Communications,
Inc., one of our direct wholly owned subsidiaries, and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. "Pegasus Development" refers to Pegasus Development Corporation,
another of our direct wholly owned subsidiaries. "Pegasus Media" refers to
Pegasus Media & Communications, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pegasus
Satellite. Other terms used are defined as necessary where they first appear.
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The following sections focus on our direct broadcast satellite
business, as this is our only significant business segment.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We have a history of losses principally due to the substantial amounts
incurred for interest expense and noncash depreciation and amortization by
Pegasus Satellite. Consolidated net losses were $151.0 million, $153.6 million,
and $278.4 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We have an accumulated
deficit balance of $1.1 billion at March 31, 2004.

We are highly leveraged on a consolidated basis. At March 31, 2004, we
had long term debt (including the portion that is current) of approximately $1.4
billion, substantially all of which was outstanding at Pegasus Satellite and its
subsidiaries. In addition, we had $327.9 million of redeemable preferred stock
outstanding, including accrued and unpaid dividends and dividends considered to
be interest. Of this amount, $112.4 million is outstanding at Pegasus Satellite
and $215.5 million is outstanding at Pegasus Communications. Total consolidated
cash at March 31, 2004 was $64.2 million, of which $55.2 million was held by
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite.

We dedicate a substantial portion of cash to pay amounts associated
with debt. In fiscal years 2003 and 2002, Pegasus Satellite paid interest of
$118.8 million and $111.0 million, respectively. Our high leverage makes us more
vulnerable to adverse economic and industry conditions and limits our
flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and the
industries in which we operate. Our ability to make payments on and to refinance
indebtedness and redeemable preferred stock outstanding and to fund operations,
planned capital expenditures, and other activities and to fund preferred stock
requirements depends on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability
to generate cash depends on the success of our business strategy, prevailing
economic conditions, regulatory risks, competitive activities by other parties,
the business strategies of DIRECTV, Inc. and the NRTC, equipment strategies,
technological developments, levels of programming costs and subscriber
acquisition costs, levels of interest rates, and financial, business, and other
factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure that our business will
generate sufficient cash flows from operations or that alternative financing
will be available to us in amounts sufficient to fund the needs previously
specified. Our indebtedness and preferred stock contain numerous covenants that,
among other things, generally limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness
and liens, issue other securities, make certain payments and investments, pay
dividends, transfer cash, dispose of assets, and enter into other transactions,
and impose limitations on the activities of our subsidiaries. Failure to make
debt payments or comply with covenants could result in an event of default that,
if not cured or waived, could adversely impact us.

On April 14, 2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV,
Inc. in the Seamless Marketing litigation. The jury's verdict awarded DIRECTV,
Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and open book account
claims. On April 16, 2004 DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered with
respect to the $51.5 million verdict and interest, if any. See Note 13 of the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Court could rule on the request
for an award of prejudgment interest at any time, and we expect that the
judgment with respect to the $51.5 million verdict and prejudgment interest will
be entered after or concurrently with that determination. The Court also has not
determined the amount of the bond or other collateral that may be required to be
posted by Pegasus Satellite Television in order to stay execution on the
judgment pending an appeal of the judgment. The amount of the bond or other
collateral may exceed the amount of the verdict plus prejudgment interest. In
order to post a bond, Pegasus Satellite will likely be required to collateralize
the bond with cash or other liquid assets in an amount equal to or in excess of
the amount of the bond.
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Pegasus Satellite is currently considering all available alternatives
that would enable it to address the judgment. As of May 14, 2004, however,
Pegasus Satellite Television's available cash and projected cash generation are
not sufficient to enable it to pay the judgment and we cannot provide any
assurance that Pegasus Satellite Television will be able to do so within the
required time period after the judgment is entered. The failure to pay the
judgment or post collateral or a bond pending appeal of the verdict within the
required time period, which could be as little as two weeks after the judgment
is entered, would entitle DIRECTV, Inc. to execute on the judgment. Such an
occurrence would be disruptive to Pegasus Satellite Television's operations.
Pegasus Satellite Television's failure to pay, bond or satisfy the judgment
would result, after the expiration of additional specified time periods, in
events of default under the Pegasus Media credit agreement, the Pegasus
Satellite term loan agreement, and Pegasus Satellite's publicly held debt
securities. Failure by Pegasus Satellite Television to satisfy the judgment or
bond the judgment pending appeal or defaults under the indebtedness of Pegasus
Satellite and Pegasus Media, unless such defaults were waived, might obligate
Pegasus Satellite Television, Pegasus Satellite and/or Pegasus Media to seek
protection under the bankruptcy laws. We do not believe that Pegasus
Communications or its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite would be
the subject of such proceedings, if they were to occur, since Pegasus
Communications is not obligated under the expected judgment or the indebtedness
of Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus Media. As of March 31, 2004 and May 14, 2004,
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite
had available cash of $55.2 million and approximately $60.0 million,
respectively.

Pegasus Satellite may seek to meet its other short and longer term
needs by issuing new debt and/or equity securities, refinancing existing debt
and/or preferred stock outstanding, continuing to extend maturities of existing
debt by issuing debt with later maturities in exchange for debt with earlier
maturities, like the exchange discussed above, or securing some other form of
financing. Our financing options and opportunities will be impacted by the
results of our litigation and contractual disputes with DIRECTV, Inc. and by
conditions in the capital markets due to general economic conditions, and in
particular, the economic conditions in the cable and satellite sector, over
which we have no control. However, we cannot make any assurances that Pegasus
Satellite will be successful in meeting such needs and continue in its present
form. See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As a result of the verdict in the Seamless Marketing litigation and the
resulting risks and uncertainties discussed above, we performed an analysis of
our direct broadcast satellite rights to determine whether any impairment had
occurred. No impairment charge was required because the projected undiscounted
cash flows associated with this asset group exceed the carrying amount of the
asset group. As discussed in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, an unfavorable ruling that the initial term of our agreements with
the NRTC is determined by DBS-1 could have a material adverse impact on our
business and would lead to a reassessment of the carrying amount or our direct
broadcast satellite rights, as the underlying assumptions regarding estimated
future cash flows associated with those rights could change (ignoring any
renewal rights or alternatives to generate cash flows from our subscriber base).

On April 26, 2004, a major rating agency reduced the corporate credit
rating for Pegasus Communications, Pegasus Satellite, and Pegasus Media from
CCC+ to CCC. We believe that this downgrade will not have a significant impact
on our liquidity and capital resources because our rating prior to the downgrade
was generally considered to be speculative. Our access to external sources of
liquidity and capital resources will be impacted more by the results of our
litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. and by conditions in the capital markets due to
general economic conditions, and in particular, the economic conditions in the
cable and satellite sector, over which we have no control.

27

Copyright © 2012 www. com. All Rights .
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document



http://www.secdatabase.com

PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

We have been involved in significant litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. in
addition to the Seamless Marketing litigation referenced above. While this other
litigation has been concluded in the United States District Court, Central
District of California, the parties may still appeal rulings in those
proceedings. Our litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. may have a bearing on our
estimation of the useful lives of our direct broadcast satellite rights assets.
The estimated useful life that DBS-1 could have for purposes of our DBS rights
may be disputed, but according to public documents of DIRECTV, Inc., DBS-1's
useful life is currently estimated to expire in 2009. An unfavorable ruling that
the initial term of our agreements with the NRTC is determined by DBS-1 could
lead to a reassessment of the carrying amount of our DBS rights, as the
underlying assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows associated with
those rights could change (ignoring any renewal rights or alternatives to
generate cash flows from our subscriber base). Likewise, if we are able to, and
elect to, participate in the conditional settlement reached among DIRECTV, Inc.,
the NRTC, and the class and use estimates of future cash flows through June 30,
2011 instead of 2016, we could reassess the carrying amounts of our DBS rights.
In the case of an unfavorable result relating to the term of our agreements or
participation in the conditional settlement, we currently estimate that we could
record an impairment loss with respect to our DBS rights of approximately $350
million to $550 million, and that annual amortization expense for DBS rights
could increase by $26 million to $45 million. See Note 13 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding this litigation.

Because we are a distributor of DIRECTV, we may be adversely affected
by any material adverse changes in the assets, financial condition, programming,
technological capabilities, or services of DIRECTV, Inc.

Our principal business is the direct broadcast satellite business. For
the three months ended March 31, 2004, the direct broadcast satellite business
had a $4.1 million loss from operations compared to income from operations of
$10.7 million for the same period of 2003. The decline in the current year was
due to incremental litigation verdict expense of $17.3 million and incremental
depreciation expense of $5.1 million as a result of the unfavorable litigation
verdict. See Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information. Excluding the impact of the litigation verdict, the direct
broadcast satellite business had income from operations of $18.3 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2004, an increase of $7.6 million compared to the
same period of 2003. Expenses related to the litigation verdict were partially
offset by current year improvement in operating results as a result of our
direct broadcast satellite business strategy. Continued improvement in results
from operations, excluding litigation activity, will in large part depend upon
our obtaining a sufficient number of quality subscribers, retaining these
subscribers for extended periods of time, and improving margins from them. While
our direct broadcast satellite business strategy has resulted in an increase in
income from operations, that strategy along with other very significant factors
has contributed to a certain extent to the decrease in the number of subscribers
for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and a decrease in direct broadcast
satellite net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2004 compared to the
same period last year. These other factors include a significant competitive
disadvantage that we experience in a large number of our territories in which
EchoStar Communications Corporation ("EchoStar"), a competing direct broadcast
satellite provider, provides local channels but DIRECTV, Inc. does not;
competition from EchoStar other than with respect to local channels; and
competition from digital cable providers. The number of territories in which we
are disadvantaged by not providing local channel service increased in 2003 and
in the first quarter of 2004, and we believe will continue to increase through
May 2004 because of DIRECTV, Inc.'s delay in launching its DIRECTV 7S spot beam
satellite to provide local channels in markets where EchoStar offers or is
introducing local channels, and DIRECTV Inc.'s failure to provide certain of our
key markets with local channels. DIRECTV, Inc. launched its 7S spot beam
satellite on May 4, 2004.
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We expect that our direct broadcast satellite business strategy and the
other factors discussed above will result in further decreases in the number of
our direct broadcast satellite subscribers and our direct broadcast satellite
net revenues when compared to prior periods, but we believe that our results
from operations for the direct broadcast satellite business will not be
significantly impacted. We cannot make any assurances that this will be the
case, however. If a disproportionate number of subscribers churn relative to the
number of quality subscribers we enroll, we are not able to enroll a sufficient
number of quality subscribers, and/or we are not able to maintain adequate
margins from our subscribers, our results from operations may not improve or
improved results that do occur may not be sustained.
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RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have restated our previously issued interim financial statements
filed in our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 to properly reflect
income taxes associated with continuing and discontinued operations. The effect
of this restatement is summarized in the table below.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
As
Originally
Reported
<S> <C>
Net benefit for income taxes S (2,729)
Loss before discontinued operations (41,141)
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax
expense 4,454
Net loss (36,687)
</TABLE>

We will restate in the statements of operations in our 2003 Form 10-K
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 the allocation of income tax
expense (benefit) between continuing operations and discontinued operations. We
will also restate in the unaudited quarterly financial information note to our
financial statements in our 2003 Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 the allocation of the full year income expense (benefit) among the
quarters of each year, as well as the allocation of the quarterly income tax
expense (benefit) for each year between continuing operations and discontinued
operations. While the restatements of the unaudited quarterly financial
information will result in changes in the amount of net loss by quarter, there
will not be any changes in the amount of net loss for the 2003 and 2002 annual
periods. For the 2003 year, the total impact on the results of operations will
be to decrease the loss from continuing operations and to decrease the income
from discontinued operations by the same amount, resulting in no impact on net
loss for the year. For the 2002 year, there will be no impact on net loss for
the year. These restatements will not have any impact on total income tax
benefit, financial position, or cash flows for the annual periods in which the
changes take place.

We intend to file within a reasonable period of time an amendment to
our 2003 Form 10-K report with the Securities and Exchange Commission to reflect
these changes.

Our independent auditors have advised us that the restatement of the
financial statements will require them to reissue their audit report on the
financial statements. The reissuance of an audit report will involve, among
other things, a going concern evaluation of the liquidity and other analyses
prepared by management at that time.

DIRECT BROADCAST SATELLITE BUSINESS STRATEGY

Our direct broadcast satellite business strategy focuses on increasing
the quality of new subscribers and the composition of our existing subscriber
base, enhancing the returns on investment in our subscribers, generating free
cash flow, and preserving liquidity. The primary focus of our "Quality First"
strategy is to improve the quality and creditworthiness of our subscriber base.
Our goal is to acquire and retain high quality subscribers, to cause average
subscribers to become high quality subscribers, and to reduce acquisition and
retention investments in low quality subscribers. To achieve these goals, our
subscriber acquisition, development, and retention efforts focus on subscribers
who are less likely to churn and who are more likely to subscribe to more
programming services, including local and network programming, and to use
multiple receivers. Our strategy includes a significant emphasis on credit
scoring of potential subscribers, adding and upgrading subscribers in markets
where DIRECTV, Inc. offers local channels, and obtaining subscribers who use
multiple receivers. It is our experience that these attributes are closely
correlated with lower churn, increased cash flow, and higher returns on
investment. Our strategy also includes the use of behavioral and predictive
scores to group subscribers and to design retention campaigns, upgrade offers,
and consumer offers consistent with our emphasis on acquiring and retaining high
quality subscribers and reducing our investment in lower quality subscribers.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In this section, amounts and changes specified are for the three months
ended March 31, 2004 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2003
(restated-see Note 15), unless indicated otherwise. With respect to our results
from operations, we focus on our direct broadcast satellite business, as this is
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our only significant business.
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Direct Broadcast Satellite
Subscribers:

We had 1,113,416 subscribers at March 31, 2004, a net decrease of
41,685 from the number of subscribers at December 31, 2003. The average number
of subscribers outstanding during the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003
was 1,133,837 and 1,293,416, respectively. Gross subscriber additions for the
three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 were 26,901 and 38,990, respectively.
In addition to the effects of our "Quality First" strategy on the number of our
subscribers, other reasons for the decrease in subscribers include a significant
competitive disadvantage that we experience in a large number of our territories
in which EchoStar provides local channels but DIRECTV, Inc. does not;
competition from EchoStar other than with respect to local channels; and
competition from digital cable providers. The number of territories in which we
are disadvantaged by not providing local channel service increased in 2003 and
in the first quarter of 2004, and we believe will continue to increase through
May 2004 because of DIRECTV, Inc.'s delay in launching its DIRECTV 7S spot beam
satellite to provide local channels in markets where EchoStar offers or is
introducing local channels, and DIRECTV, Inc.'s failure to provide certain of
our key markets with local channels. DIRECTV, Inc. launched its 7S spot beam
satellite on May 4, 2004. Additionally, we believe that all other factors cited
above contributing to our subscriber losses will continue over the near term.

DIRECTV, Inc., according to its most recent statements, intends to
provide in 2004 local broadcast network services to an additional 31 DMAs that
we serve, as a result of the successful launch of the DIRECTV 7S spot beam
satellite on May 4, 2004. If completed, this will increase the number of local
broadcast network eligible households in our markets by approximately 2.5
million, to a total of approximately 5.7 million households. DIRECTV, Inc.,
according to its most recent statements, also intends to provide local broadcast
network services in 15 DMAs that we serve, representing approximately 794,000
households, using capacity at the 72.5(degree) west longitude orbital location,
which is assigned to Canada. Based on the recent statements of DIRECTV, Inc.
described above, the total number of households in our markets that will be
eligible for local broadcast network services in 2004 will increase to
approximately 6.5 million, or 77% of the total households in our markets.

The table below summarizes the impact of DIRECTV, Inc.'s stated planned
DIRECTV 7S and 72.5(degree) west longitude orbital location satellites on local
broadcast network services availability in our markets using three different
scenarios. As described above, if all launches are completed as stated by
DIRECTV, Inc. the majority (approximately 77%) of households residing in our
markets will have access to local channel service in 2004. Additionally, the
table shows the number of our households where DISH has an advantage with
respect to local channel availability. This local service disadvantage to us
decreases significantly from 3.3 million of our households as of May 6, 2004 to
approximately 153,000 households with the successful launch of DIRECTV 7S and
re-slotting of the existing satellite to 72.5(degree) west orbital location. The
amounts in the table are approximations.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Our Households
with Local Channel Our Households Where Local
Launch Scenarios Availability Channels are Not Available:
<S> <C> <C>
For Neither DISH Has and
Us or Dish We Do Not
No Launch of D7S
or re-slotting
to 72.5(degree) 3,196,991 1,911,537 3,288,121
Launch of D7S only 5,691,923 1,758,291 946,435
Launch of Both D7S
and re-slotting
to 72.5(degree) 6,485,807 1,758,291 152,551

</TABLE>
* Total number of our households at April 30, 2004.
Despite the decrease in subscribers of 41,685 from December 31, 2003 to

March 31, 2004, and the decrease in average subscribers of 159,579 versus
average subscribers in the first three months of 2003, our continued focus on
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our "Quality First" strategy has contributed to a $5.21 increase in average

monthly revenue generated per subscriber ("ARPU"), which grew to $58.18 from
$52.97 at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively (see below for detailed
discussion). This strategy has also increased direct broadcast satellite

operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization, as adjusted for
the litigation verdict, to $57.6 million from $52.6 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our direct broadcast satellite
operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization, as adjusted for
the litigation verdict, as a percent of revenue has also improved to 29.1% from
25.6% at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Revenues:

Revenues decreased $7.6 million to $197.9 million primarily due to
decreases in our recurring subscription revenue from our core, a la carte, and
premium package offerings of $6.5 million and from pay per view revenues of $2.4
million, partially offset by increases in other revenues of $1.3 million. The
decrease from our core, a la carte, and premium package offerings is primarily
due to the net reduction in total subscribers described above, partially offset
by increased ARPU as discussed above.

Direct Operating Expenses:

Programming expense decreased $3.4 million to $89.8 million primarily
due to decreases in the cost of our core, a la carte, and premium package
offerings of $2.7 million, and in the cost of our pay per view programming of
$1.1 million. The decrease in the cost of our core, a la carte, and premium
package offerings was primarily due to approximately $5.1 million of savings
from the net reduction in total subscribers described above, partially offset by
an increase of $2.4 million in certain per subscriber programming costs charged
to us by the NRTC effective January 2004.

Other subscriber related expenses decreased $7.9 million to $36.8
million primarily due to: (1) decreases in customer care costs of $2.9 million
as a result of renegotiated rates for outsourced customer care services and
reduced call volume due to a smaller subscriber base, (2) decreases in
infrastructure, billing, and royalty fees expenses of $3.9 million as a result
of the net reduction in total subscribers previously discussed and decreases in
certain per subscriber and per receiver infrastructure costs charged to us by
the NRTC effective January 2004, and (3) a reduction in bad debt expense of $1.0
million, primarily the result of our continued focus on improving the quality of
our subscriber base.

Other Operating Expenses:

Subscriber acquisition costs are incurred when we enroll new
subscribers to our DIRECTV programming. These costs consist of the portion of
programming costs associated with promotional programming provided to
subscribers, equipment related subsidies paid to distributors and applicable
costs incurred by us, installation costs and related subsidies paid to dealers,
dealer commissions, advertising and marketing costs, and selling costs. Our
subscriber acquisition costs may be expensed, deferred, or capitalized, as
explained below.

Promotional programming costs, which are included in promotions and
incentives expense on the statement of operations, are charged to expense when
incurred. Equipment and installation subsidies that are expensed, as described
below, are charged to expense when the equipment is delivered and the
installation occurs, respectively, and included in promotions and incentives on
the statement of operations. Dealer commissions, advertising and marketing
costs, and selling costs that are expensed, as described below, are charged to
expense when incurred and included in advertising and selling on the statement
of operations.
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Certain subscriber acquisition costs are capitalized or deferred. Under
certain of our subscription plans for DIRECTV programming, we take title to
equipment provided to subscribers. Applicable costs and subsidies related to
this equipment are capitalized as fixed assets and depreciated over their
estimated useful lives of three years and charged to depreciation expense. We
also have subscription plans for our DIRECTV programming that contain minimum
service commitment periods. These plans have early termination fees for
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subscribers should service be terminated by subscribers before the end of the
commitment period. Direct and incremental subscriber acquisition costs
associated with these plans, consisting of equipment costs and related subsidies
not capitalized as fixed assets, installation costs and related subsidies, and
dealer commissions, are deferred in the aggregate not to exceed the amounts of
applicable termination fees. These costs are amortized over the minimum service
commitment period of 12 months and charged to amortization expense. Direct and
incremental subscriber acquisition costs deferred are less than the contractual
revenue from the plans over the commitment period. Direct and incremental
subscriber acquisition costs in excess of termination fee amounts are expensed
immediately and charged to promotion and incentives or advertising and selling,
as applicable, in the statement of operations.

Amounts associated with subscriber acquisition costs are contained in
the following table (in thousands) :

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2004 2003

Gross subscriber acquisition costs:
Incurred $13,414 $20,235
Capitalized 2,761 5,430
Deferred 3,289 6,201
Expensed: $ 7,364 $ 8,604
Promotions and incentives $ 3,118 $ 2,878
Advertising and selling 4,246 5,726
Total expensed $ 7,364 S 8,604
Amortization of amounts deferred S 4,743 S 7,664
Depreciation of amounts capitalized 4,746 4,370

Gross subscriber acquisition costs decreased $6.8 million primarily due
to a lesser amount of gross subscriber additions in 2004 compared to 2003.
Capitalized subscriber acquisition costs decreased as a result of an approximate
21,000 decrease in the number of receivers that we took title to that were
delivered to new subscribers during the first three months of 2004. Deferred
subscriber acquisition costs decreased as a result of an approximate 15,000
decrease in the number of gross subscriber additions for which certain direct
and incremental subscriber acquisition costs were eligible for deferral during
the first three months of 2004. Based on the gross subscriber additions during
the first three months of 2004 and 2003 stated above, total subscriber
acquisition costs per gross subscriber added were $499 and $519, respectively.
The decrease was primarily due to: (1) lower aggregate dealer commission costs
of $30 per gross subscriber added for the first three months of 2004 versus
2003, primarily as a result of increased direct channel sales as a relative
percent of total sales; and (2) a decrease of $7 per gross subscriber in
equipment and installation subsidies, primarily as a result of the increased use
of refurbished receivers; partially offset by (3) the disproportionate impact of
our sales administration and other indirect subscriber acquisition costs when
divided by a substantially lower number of gross subscriber additions, which
amounts to an impact of $12 per gross subscriber addition; and (4) an increase
of $5 per gross subscriber added for costs of promotional introductory campaigns
that provide programming at discounted rates to new subscribers.
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Litigation Verdict:

On April 14, 2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV,
Inc. in the Seamless Marketing litigation. The jury's verdict awarded DIRECTV,
Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and open book account
claims. On April 16, 2004 DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered. See
Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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We had previously accrued expenses of $35.2 million related to amounts
billed and unpaid under the Seamless Marketing agreement in fiscal years 2000
and 2001. In the first quarter of 2004, as a result of the jury's award of $51.5
million and our estimate of interest of $6.5 million, we increased this accrual
by $22.8 million by recording $17.3 million as litigation verdict in the
consolidated statements of operations and $5.5 million as property and equipment
in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The $5.5 million of property and
equipment represents direct broadcast satellite receivers for which we retained
title. In addition, we recorded $5.1 million of depreciation expense related to
this property and equipment.

Depreciation and Amortization:

Depreciation and amortization increased $2.5 million to $44.5 million
primarily due to the incremental depreciation expense of $5.1 million recorded
in the first quarter of 2004 in connection with the litigation verdict as
described above. This increase was partially offset by decreased amortization of
deferred subscriber acquisition costs of $3.0 million in 2004 compared to 2003
as a result of a lesser number of subscribers for which certain direct and
incremental subscriber acquisition costs were being amortized during the first
three months of 2004. Deferred subscriber acquisition costs are amortized over
12 months from the date they are incurred, which is when a new subscriber is
added. Depreciation and amortization included depreciation of promotions and
incentives capitalized of $4.7 million and $4.4 million for 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and aggregate amortization of promotions and incentives and
advertising and selling costs deferred of $4.7 million and $7.7 million for 2004
and 2003, respectively.

Other Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Items

Other operating expenses increased $508 thousand to $8.5 million
primarily due to a one time stock award of $2.2 million, offset in part by legal
fees associated with our DIRECTV, Inc. and patent litigation that were $2.0
million lower in the current year.

Interest expense increased $9.1 million to $45.7 million primarily
due to:

(1) dividends on Pegasus Satellite's 12-3/4% preferred stock of $3.5
million and interest on dividends in arrears of $425 thousand that
were classified as interest expense in 2003 due to the stock being
classified as a liability upon our adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 150 beginning July 1, 2003;
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(2) net incremental interest expense of $4.0 million associated with
Pegasus Media's credit agreement, principally due to the Tranche D
term loan of $300.0 million borrowed in October 2003 at a weighted
average rate of 9.0%;

(3) net interest of $3.4 million with respect to Pegasus Satellite's
$100.0 million term loan due 2009 borrowed in August 2003 at a
rate of 12.5%; and

(4) net incremental interest expense of $841 thousand associated with
Pegasus Satellite's 11-1/4% senior discount notes issued in a
series of note exchanges in 2003;

offset in part by:

(1) interest in the first quarter of 2003 of $2.7 million with respect
to Pegasus Media's 12-1/2% notes due 2005 which were redeemed in
September 2003 with outstanding principal of $67.9 million on the
date of redemption;

(2) a reduction of $935 thousand in interest associated with interest
rate hedging financial instruments for Pegasus Media primarily due
to the expiration of interest rate swap contracts in March 2003.

Equity in losses of affiliates was $3.1 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2003 due to an adjustment in the capital accounts of the
respective partners of a partnership in which Pegasus Development is a partner.
This adjustment reduced Pegasus Development's share in the equity of the
partnership by $3.3 million. As of March 31, 2004, this previously reported
equity investment is now consolidated as a variable interest entity of which
Pegasus Development is the primary beneficiary. See Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

There was no income tax expense or benefit on the loss from continuing
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operations in the three months ended March 31, 2004 due to the effect of an
increase of $13.5 million to the valuation allowance recorded against the net
deferred income tax asset balance at March 31, 2004. The increase to the
valuation allowance was a charge to income taxes that offset income tax benefits
provided by net operating losses in arriving at the net income tax benefit on
the loss from continuing operations. The net deferred income tax asset balance
at March 31, 2004 was $107.2 million, offset by a valuation allowance in the
same amount. A valuation allowance sufficient to reduce the net deferred income
tax asset balance to zero at March 31, 2004 was necessary because it was more
likely than not that the benefits of the net deferred income tax asset will not
be realized, based on our history of losses. The effect of the valuation
allowance reduced our overall effective income tax rate on continuing operations
for the three months ended March 31, 2004 to zero.

In 2003, we completed the sale of three broadcast television stations
in two separate transactions. One station was located in Mobile, Alabama and the
other two stations were located in Mississippi. The aggregate sale price was
$24.9 million cash, and we recognized a net gain on the sales of $10.3 million,
including a gain of $7.4 million in the first three months of 2003. The
operations of these stations, including the net gain recognized on the sales,
are classified as discontinued in the statement of operations and comprehensive
loss for all periods presented. For the three months ended March 31, 2003,
aggregate revenues and pretax income from discontinued operations were $1.2
million and $7.2 million, respectively.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 46,
"Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities"™ ("FIN 46"), was originally issued
by the FASB in January 2003 and was revised in December 2003. FIN 46 clarifies
the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consolidated Financial
Statements" to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support. Effective March 31, 2004, we adopted the
provisions of FIN 46 and initially consolidated the following variable interest
entities.
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KB Prime Media

We entered into an arrangement in 1998 with W.W. Keen Butcher, the
stepfather of Marshall W. Pagon, and certain entities controlled by Mr. Butcher
and the owner of a minority interest in one of the entities. Under this
agreement, as later amended and modified, we agreed to provide and maintain
collateral for the principal amount of bank loans to Mr. Butcher, his affiliated
entities, and the minority owner. Mr. Butcher and the minority owner are
required to lend or contribute the proceeds of those bank loans to one or more
of the entities owned by Mr. Butcher (the "KB Prime Media Companies") for the
acquisition of television broadcast stations to be programmed by us pursuant to
local marketing agreements or for which we have the right to sell all of the
advertising time pursuant to sales agreements. Under the 1998 arrangement, as
amended, the KB Prime Media Companies granted us an option to purchase all of
its broadcast station licenses, permits, and/or assets, in whole or in part, if
and when permitted by applicable Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") rules
and regulations. The option price is based upon the cost attributed to an asset,
plus compound interest at 12% per year. The arrangement with Mr. Butcher permits
us to realize the benefit or cost savings for programming and collecting
revenues from two or more stations in a television market where the FCC's
ownership rules would otherwise prohibit outright ownership. In March 2004 and
May 2004, we filed applications with the FCC to transfer the licenses of two
stations to Pegasus Satellite.

We and KB Prime Media Companies amended the 1998 agreement effective
February 1, 2004 to, among other things, (i) decrease the annual interest rate
from 12% to a rate equal to the borrowing interest rate of the KB Prime Media
Companies (2.9% as of March 31, 2004) plus 3% and (ii) limit the amount of
corporate expenses that would be reimbursed.

At March 31, 2004, Pegasus Media consolidated $4.2 million of assets
and $6.4 million of liabilities of the KB Prime Media Companies. Pursuant to our
arrangement with the KB Prime Media Companies, $6.8 million and $6.6 million of
our cash was used to collateralize bank loans at March 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively. Such cash is classified as other noncurrent assets in the
accompanying balance sheets. Creditors of the KB Prime Media Companies have no
other recourse to us. In addition, the KB Prime Media Companies held 2,574
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shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common stock. Such shares had an
aggregate cost basis of $100 thousand and have been classified as treasury
stock.

The consolidation of the KB Prime Media Companies resulted in a
cumulative effect of a $2.1 million loss or $0.37 cents per share for the three
months ended March 31, 2004.

Pegasus PCS Partners, LP

Pegasus PCS Partners, L.P. ("Pegasus PCS Partners") is a partnership
owned and controlled by Marshall W. Pagon. In January 1996 and April 1999,
Pegasus PCS Partners acquired two personal communications system licenses in
Puerto Rico in FCC auctions. In August 1999, Pegasus Development made an
investment of $4.8 million in Pegasus PCS Partners in return for a limited
partnership interest. In February 2001 and in May 2001, Pegasus PCS Partners
sold its licenses. Aggregate consideration for the sale of the two licenses was
approximately $30.0 million. Presently, Pegasus PCS Partners' activities consist
principally of investments in related companies.

In February 2002, Pegasus Development granted Mr. Pagon a ten-year
option to purchase its interest in Pegasus PCS Partners for the market value of
that interest, payable in cash or by delivery of marketable securities
(including our securities).
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Pegasus Development's investment in Pegasus PCS Partners was accounted
for pursuant to the equity method of accounting prior to March 31, 2004. Pegasus
Development's share of undistributed results of operations of Pegasus PCS
Partners was a loss of $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003.
Pegasus PCS Partners had no income or loss for the three months ended March 31,
2004.

At March 31, 2004, Pegasus consolidated $22.0 million of assets and
$8.1 million of determined not to be the primary beneficiaries under FIN 46. In
addition, PCS Partners held 35,500 shares and 7,236 shares of Pegasus
Communications' Class A and Class B common stock, respectively. Such shares had
an aggregate cost basis of $2.5 million and have been classified as treasury
stock.

Pegasus Capital Holdings, LLC

In addition to the variable interest entities we consolidate, we also hold
a significant variable interest in Pegasus Capital Holdings, LLC ("PCH LLC").
Pegasus PCS Partners, as a result of a series of investments in 2001, 2002 and
2003, holds approximately $21.8 million of senior preferred equity interests in
PCH LLC at March 31, 2004. PCH LLC is controlled by affiliates of Marshall W.
Pagon. Its principal assets are investments that had an approximate fair value
of $31.0 million at March 31, 2004.

Other

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") finalized Issue
03-06, "Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement
No. 128, “Earnings Per Share'" ("EITF 03-06"). EITF 03-06 provides guidance for
evaluating whether a security meets the definition of a participating security
in FASB Statement 128. This guidance is applicable beginning in the second
quarter of 2004. We are evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF 03-06 on
our financial position and results of operations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We had cash and cash equivalents on hand at March 31, 2004 of $64.2
million compared to $82.9 million at December 31, 2003. The change in cash is
discussed below in terms of the amounts shown in our statement of cash flows.

Net cash used for operating activities was $2.6 million and $8.0
million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
improvement was primarily the result of improved operating performance and cash
generation by the direct broadcast satellite business, as direct broadcast
satellite operating profit before depreciation and amortization, as adjusted for
the litigation verdict, increased by $5.0 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2004 compared to 2003, to $57.6 million from $52.6 million, and
deferred subscriber acquisition costs decreased by $2.9 million in the three
months ended March 31, 2004 compared to 2003, to $3.3 million from $6.2 million.
These improvements were partially offset by a $3.9 million increase in interest
paid during the current year quarter, primarily as a result of higher debt
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outstanding and higher interest rates during the first three months of 2004.

For the three months ended March 31, 2004, net cash of $7.4 million was
used for investing activities, compared to net cash provided by investing
activities of $5.1 million in the same period of 2003. The amount in the 2004
period primarily consisted of $4.3 million for the January 2004 purchase of an
FCC license for a broadcast television station in Gainesville, Florida and $2.6
million of purchases of direct broadcast satellite equipment. The amount in the
2003 period primarily consisted of net proceeds of $11.0 million from the sale
of our broadcast television station located in Mobile, Alabama, offset in part
by purchases of direct broadcast satellite equipment capitalized of $5.4
million.
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For the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, net cash was used
for financing activities of $8.7 million and $4.4 million, respectively. The
primary financing activities in the 2004 period were $5.3 million of restricted
cash placed as collateral for a bond, $2.5 million of debt financing costs, and
repayments of long term debt of $803 thousand. The primary financing activities
in the 2003 period were repayments of long term debt of $3.1 million and
purchases of 96,960 shares of our Class A common stock for $1.2 million.

As permitted by the certificate of designation for the 6-1/2% Series C
convertible preferred stock ("Series C"), Pegasus Communications' board of
directors has the discretion to declare or not to declare any scheduled
quarterly dividends for Series C. Since January 31, 2002, the board of directors
has only declared a dividend of $100 thousand on the series, which was paid with
shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common stock. The total amount of
dividends in arrears on Series C at March 31, 2004 was $23.9 million. The
dividend of $3.2 million scheduled to be declared on April 30, 2004 was not
declared. Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears until paid.

While dividends are in arrears on preferred stock senior to the Series
E junior convertible participating preferred stock ("Series E"), our board of
directors may not declare dividends on and we may not redeem shares of this
series. The Series C preferred stock is senior to these series. Because
dividends on the Series C preferred stock are in arrears, the annual dividends
scheduled to be declared and paid for Series E preferred stock on January 1,
2004 of $119 thousand were not declared and became in arrears on that date.
Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears until paid. As of March 31, 2004,
$238 thousand of dividends on the Series E preferred stock were in arrears.
While dividends on preferred stock senior to Series E is in arrears, we are not
permitted nor obligated to redeem the related shares of this series. Under these
circumstances, our inability to redeem the shares of this series is not an event
of default.

In January 2004, Pegasus Communications entered into an agreement with
an unrelated party to issue 125,000 shares of its Series C preferred stock in
exchange for all of the remaining 12,500 shares of its Series D preferred stock.
No cash was transferred in the exchange. The Series D shares had accumulated
dividends in arrears to the date of the exchange of $1.0 million. Dividends on
Series C shares are in arrears, and the Series C shares issued in the exchange
were issued with an amount equivalent to dividends in arrears to the date of the
exchange of $1.6 million. Dividends on Series D were payable annually at 4% of
liquidation preference value. Dividends on Series C are payable quarterly at
6-1/2% of liquidation preference value.

Also in January 2004, the FCC awarded a license to a direct subsidiary
of Pegasus Communications other than Pegasus Satellite to launch and operate a
Ka band geostationary satellite at the 87 (degree) west longitude orbital
location. In connection with this license, we posted a $5.0 million bond with
the FCC which was collateralized with cash in the same amount. This cash is
included in other noncurrent assets on our condensed consolidated balance sheet
and in net cash used for financing activities in the condensed consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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In February 2004, we exercised an option to acquire from a related
party a broadcast television station serving Portland, Maine for approximately
$3.8 million. It is anticipated that our acquisition of this station will result
in the release of approximately $4.0 million of our cash that collateralizes
bank loans of the related party from which we will purchase the station. In
February 2004, the FCC preliminarily granted a new, digital only, full power
construction permit to this same related party for a broadcast television
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station licensed to Hammond, Louisiana to be located in the New Orleans
designated market area. This approval became final in April 2004. In March 2004,
we exercised our option to acquire the construction permit and filed an
application with the FCC to transfer the Hammond station's license to Pegasus
Satellite. The option price for the construction permit is estimated to be $1.5
million and will further reduce, to the extent outstanding, our cash that
collateralizes bank loans of the related party from which we will purchase the
permit. In March 2004, we exercised an option to acquire for approximately $2.0
million a broadcast television station in Scranton, Pennsylvania from this same
related party. The amount paid by us will further reduce, to the extent
outstanding, our cash that collateralizes bank loans of the related party from
which we will purchase the station. In May 2004, we filed an application with
the FCC to transfer the Scranton station's license to Pegasus Satellite.
Effective March 31, 2004, we began consolidating the KB Prime Media Companies as
a variable interest entity under the provisions of FIN 46.

In February 2004, Pegasus Media and its lenders entered into an
amendment to its credit facility. The amendment, among other things, allows us
to incur additional senior secured debt such that Pegasus Media and we can have
total senior secured debt of up to $650.0 million.

On April 14, 2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV,
Inc. in the Seamless Marketing litigation. The jury's verdict awarded DIRECTV,
Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and open book account
claims. On April 16, 2004 DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered with
respect to the $51.5 million verdict and interest, if any. See Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Court could rule on the request
for an award of prejudgment interest at any time, and we expect that the
judgment with respect to the $51.5 million verdict and prejudgment interest will
be entered after or concurrently with that determination. The Court also has not
determined the amount of the bond or other collateral that may be required to be
posted by Pegasus Satellite Television in order to stay execution on the
judgment pending an appeal of the judgment. The amount of the bond or other
collateral may exceed the amount of the verdict plus prejudgment interest. In
order to post a bond, Pegasus Satellite will likely be required to collateralize
the bond with cash or other liquid assets in an amount equal to or in excess of
the amount of the bond.
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Pegasus Satellite is currently considering all available alternatives
that would enable it to address the judgment. As of May 14, 2004, however,
Pegasus Satellite Television's available cash and projected cash generation are
not sufficient to enable it to pay the judgment and we cannot provide any
assurance that Pegasus Satellite Television will be able to do so within the
required time period after the judgment is entered. The failure to pay the
judgment or post collateral or a bond pending appeal of the verdict within the
required time period, which could be as little as two weeks after the judgment
is entered, would entitle DIRECTV, Inc. to execute on the judgment. Such an
occurrence would be disruptive to Pegasus Satellite Television's operations.
Pegasus Satellite Television's failure to pay, bond or satisfy the judgment
would result, after the expiration of additional specified time periods, in
events of default under the Pegasus Media credit agreement, the Pegasus
Satellite term loan agreement, and Pegasus Satellite's publicly held debt
securities. Failure by Pegasus Satellite Television to satisfy the judgment or
bond the judgment pending appeal or defaults under the indebtedness of Pegasus
Satellite and Pegasus Media, unless such defaults were waived, might obligate
Pegasus Satellite Television, Pegasus Satellite and/or Pegasus Media to seek
protection under the bankruptcy laws. We do not believe that Pegasus
Communications or its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite would be
the subject of such proceedings, if they were to occur, since Pegasus
Communications is not obligated under the expected judgment or the indebtedness
of Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus Media. As of March 31, 2004 and May 14, 2004,
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite
had available cash of $55.2 million and approximately $60.0 million,
respectively.
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Pegasus Satellite may seek to meet its other short and longer term
needs by issuing new debt and/or equity securities, refinancing existing debt
and/or preferred stock outstanding, continuing to extend maturities of existing
debt by issuing debt with later maturities in exchange for debt with earlier
maturities, like the exchange discussed above, or securing some other form of
financing. Our financing options and opportunities will be impacted by the
results of our litigation and contractual disputes with DIRECTV, Inc. and by
conditions in the capital markets due to general economic conditions, and in
particular, the economic conditions in the cable and satellite sector, over
which we have no control. However, we cannot make any assurances that Pegasus
Satellite will be successful in meeting such needs and continue in its present
form. See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As a result of the verdict in the Seamless Marketing litigation and the
resulting risks and uncertainties discussed above, we performed an analysis of
our direct broadcast satellite rights to determine whether any impairment had
occurred. No impairment charge was required because the projected undiscounted
cash flows associated with this asset group exceed the carrying amount of the
asset group. As discussed in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, an unfavorable ruling that the initial term of our agreements with
the NRTC is determined by DBS-1 could have a material adverse impact on our
business and would lead to a reassessment of the carrying amount of our direct
broadcast satellite rights, as the underlying assumptions regarding estimated
future cash flows associated with those rights could change (ignoring any
renewal rights or alternatives to generate cash flows from our subscriber base).

On April 26, 2004, a major rating agency reduced the corporate credit
rating for Pegasus Communications, Pegasus Satellite, and Pegasus Media from
CCC+ to CCC. We believe that this downgrade will not have a significant impact
on our liquidity and capital resources because our rating prior to the downgrade
was generally considered to be speculative. Our access to external sources of
liquidity and capital resources will be impacted more by the results of our
litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. and by conditions in the capital markets due to
general economic conditions, and in particular, the economic conditions in the
cable and satellite sector, over which we have no control.

As indicated above and previously disclosed, we have engaged in
transactions from time to time that involve the purchase, sale, and/or exchange
of our securities, and may further do so in the future. Such transactions may be
made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and may involve
cash or the issuance of new securities or securities that we received upon
purchase or exchange. The amount and timing of such transactions, if any, will
depend on market conditions and other considerations.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Because of our high leverage and our need from time to time to
refinance our borrowings or to seek new or additional sources of funding, our
principal market risk is exposure to market rates of interest. Although we
manage our overall debt service on a continual basis, our principal exposure has
been variable rates of interest associated with borrowings under our credit
facilities, consisting of revolving credit and term loans.
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On April 14, 2004, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DIRECTV,
Inc. in the Seamless Marketing litigation. The jury's verdict awarded DIRECTV,
Inc. $51.5 million on DIRECTV, Inc.'s breach of contract and open book account
claims. On April 16, 2004 DIRECTV, Inc. filed with the court a request for an
award of prejudgment interest on the verdict. In that filing, DIRECTV, Inc.
requested an award of interest in the amount of $12.6 million. On April 23,
2004, Pegasus Satellite Television filed an opposition to DIRECTV, Inc.'s
request for an award of prejudgment interest, which, among other things contends
that prejudgment interest, if available at all, should not be calculated in the
manner argued by DIRECTV, Inc. If the court determines that prejudgment interest
should be awarded, we believe the reasonably possible range of interest charged
would be between $6.5 million and $12.6 million. Under FAS 5, we have recorded
the low end of the reasonably possible range as an accrual in the amount of $6.5
million for prejudgment interest. The Court has not yet ruled on the request for
an award of prejudgment interest and no final judgment has been entered with
respect to the $51.5 million verdict and interest, if any. See Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Court could rule on the request
for an award of prejudgment interest at any time, and we expect that the
judgment with respect to the $51.5 million verdict and prejudgment interest will
be entered after or concurrently with that determination. The Court also has not
determined the amount of the bond or other collateral that may be required to be
posted by Pegasus Satellite Television in order to stay execution on the
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judgment pending an appeal of the judgment. The amount of the bond or other
collateral may exceed the amount of the verdict plus prejudgment interest. In
order to post a bond, Pegasus Satellite Television will likely be required to
collateralize the bond with cash or other liquid assets in an amount equal to or
in excess of the amount of the bond.

Pegasus Satellite is currently considering all available alternatives
that would enable it to address the judgment. As of May 14, 2004, however,
Pegasus Satellite Television's available cash and projected cash generation are
not sufficient to enable it to pay the judgment and we cannot provide any
assurance that Pegasus Satellite Television will be able to do so within the
required time period after the judgment is entered. The failure to pay the
judgment or post collateral or a bond pending appeal of the verdict within the
required time period, which could be as little as two weeks after the judgment
is entered, would entitle DIRECTV, Inc. to execute on the judgment. Such an
occurrence would be disruptive to Pegasus Satellite Television's operations.
Pegasus Satellite Television's failure to pay, bond or satisfy the judgment
would result, after the expiration of additional specified time periods, in
events of default under the Pegasus Media credit agreement, the Pegasus
Satellite term loan agreement, and Pegasus Satellite's publicly held debt
securities. Failure by Pegasus Satellite Television to satisfy the judgment or
bond the judgment pending appeal or defaults under the indebtedness of Pegasus
Satellite and Pegasus Media, unless such defaults were waived, might obligate
Pegasus Satellite Television, Pegasus Satellite and/or Pegasus Media to seek
protection under the bankruptcy laws. We do not believe that Pegasus
Communications or its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite would be
the subject of such proceedings, if they were to occur, since Pegasus
Communications is not obligated under the expected judgment or the indebtedness
of Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus Media. As of March 31, 2004 and May 14, 2004,
Pegasus Communications and its direct subsidiaries other than Pegasus Satellite
had available cash of $55.2 million and approximately $60.0 million,
respectively.

Pegasus Satellite may seek to meet its other short and longer term
needs by issuing new debt and/or equity securities, refinancing existing debt
and/or preferred stock outstanding, continuing to extend maturities of existing
debt by issuing debt with later maturities in exchange for debt with earlier
maturities, like the exchange discussed above, or securing some other form of
financing. Our financing options and opportunities will be impacted by the
results of our litigation and contractual disputes with DIRECTV, Inc. and by
conditions in the capital markets due to general economic conditions, and in
particular, the economic conditions in the cable and satellite sector, over
which we have no control. However, we cannot make any assurances that Pegasus
Satellite will be successful in meeting such needs and continue in its present
form. See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

On April 26, 2004, a major rating agency reduced the corporate credit
rating for Pegasus Communications, Pegasus Satellite, and Pegasus Media from
CCC+ to CCC. We believe that this downgrade will not have a significant impact
on our liquidity and capital resources because our rating prior to the downgrade
was generally considered to be speculative. Our access to external sources of
liquidity and capital resources will be impacted more by the results of our
litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. and by conditions in the capital markets due to
general economic conditions, and in particular, the economic conditions in the
cable and satellite sector, over which we have no control.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Within the 90 day period prior to March 31, 2004, we carried out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to determine
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
concluded that these controls and procedures are effective in their design to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by the registrant in reports
that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information
has been accumulated and communicated to the management of the registrant,
including the above indicated officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding the required disclosures. There have not been any changes in the
registrant's internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to the date of this evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.
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PEGASUS COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information relating to litigation with DIRECTV, Inc. and others,
we incorporate by reference herein the disclosure reported under Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements can be found under Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q. We have previously filed reports during the fiscal year disclosing some or
all of the legal proceedings referenced above. In particular, we have reported
on such proceedings in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and our Current Reports on Form 8-K dated January 5, 2004 and
February 5, 2004.

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

During the first quarter of 2004, Pegasus Satellite issued to an
institutional investor an aggregate of $1.0 million principal amount of its
11-1/4% senior notes due January 2010 in exchange for $1.0 million principal
amount of its 9-5/8% outstanding notes. The terms and conditions of the 11-1/4%
notes issued in the exchanges are the same as those contained in the indenture
for the notes of this series already outstanding. The 11-1/4% notes were issued
without registration in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933
and are eligible for resale under Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act
of 1933.

On January 23, 2004, the Company agreed with the holder of its Series D
preferred stock to exchange 12,500 shares of the Series D preferred stock, with
a liquidation preference of $12.5 million for 125,000 shares of the Company's
Series C preferred stock, with a liquidation preference of $12.5 million. The
shares of Series C preferred stock are convertible into shares of Class A common
stock at a conversion price of $637.50 per share (equal to a conversion ratio of
0.1569 shares of Class A common stock for each share of Series C preferred
stock) . The shares of Series C preferred stock were issued without registration
in reliance on Section 3(a) (9) of the Securities Act of 1933.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

As permitted by the certificate of designation for the Series C,
Pegasus Communications' board of directors has the discretion to declare or not
to declare any scheduled quarterly dividends for Series C. Since January 31,
2002, the board of directors has only declared a dividend of $100 thousand on
the series, which was paid with shares of Pegasus Communications' Class A common
stock. The total amount of dividends in arrears on Series C at March 31, 2004
was $23.9 million. The dividend of $3.2 million scheduled to be declared on
April 30, 2004 was not declared. Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears
until paid.

While dividends are in arrears on preferred stock senior to the Series
E junior convertible participating preferred stock ("Series E"), our board of
directors may not declare dividends on and we may not redeem shares of this
series. The Series C preferred stock is senior to these series. Because
dividends on the Series C preferred stock are in arrears, the annual dividends
scheduled to be declared and paid for Series E preferred stock on January 1,
2004 of $119 thousand were not declared and became in arrears on that date.
Dividends not declared accumulate in arrears until paid. As of March 31, 2004,
$238 thousand of dividends on the Series E preferred stock were in arrears.
While dividends on preferred stock senior to Series E is in arrears, we are not
permitted nor obligated to redeem the related shares of this series. Under these
circumstances, our inability to redeem the shares of this series is not an event
of default.

As permitted by the certificate of designation for Pegasus Satellite's
12-3/4% cumulative exchangeable preferred stock ("12-3/4% Series"), our board of
directors has the discretion to declare or not to declare any scheduled
quarterly dividends for this series. The board of directors has not declared any
of the scheduled semiannual dividends for this series since January 1, 2002.
Dividends in arrears to unaffiliated parties at March 31, 2004 were $23.4
million, with accrued interest thereon of $3.5 million. Dividends not declared
accumulate in arrears and incur interest at a rate of 14.75% per year until
paid.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
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a) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

31.1* Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(furnished herewith).

32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(furnished herewith).

* Filed herewith.
b) Reports on Form 8-K

On January 8, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated January
5, 2004 reporting under Item 5 that the United States District Court for the
Central District of California approved the settlement of the lawsuit brought
against DIRECTV, Inc. by a class of NRTC participants other than Pegasus
Satellite Television after a finding that the settlement was fair under the
legal standards applied to class action settlements. We included as an exhibit
to the Form 8-K a copy of the final order entered by the district court.

On January 28, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 26, 2004 reporting under Item 5 that Pegasus Satellite Communications
announced that it commenced a cash tender offer for up to $100 million aggregate
principal amount of certain series of outstanding debt securities maturing in
2005 through 2007. We included as exhibits to the Form 8-K a copy of the press
release announcing the tender offer and a copy of the tender offer documents.

On February 4, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated
February 3, 2004 reporting under Item 5 that: (1) Pegasus Satellite
Communications announced that it intended to offer $100 million of its senior
notes; (2) Pegasus Satellite Communications was in the process of seeking an
amendment to the credit facility of its subsidiary, Pegasus Media that would
permit it to obtain a new senior secured term loan and would permit Pegasus
Satellite Communications and Pegasus Media to have a total of $650.0 million of
senior secured debt; and (3) in December 2003, Pegasus Media established a $20.0
million revolving credit facility, maturing July 2006, secured by a parity lien
on the collateral that secures the Pegasus Media term loans. We also announced
selected financial information regarding our results of operations for the three
and twelve months ended December 31, 2003 under Item 12 of Form 8-K. We included
as exhibits to the Form 8-K copies of the press release announcing the tender
offer and the press release announcing the fourth quarter financial information.

On February 6, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated
February 5, 2004 reporting under Item 5 that (1) we issued a press release
responding to certain misstatements made in a press release issued by DIRECTV,
Inc. on February 5, 2004 and (2) Pegasus Media and its lenders entered into an
amendment to its credit facility which, among other things, allows our Pegasus
Satellite Communications, Inc. subsidiary to incur additional senior secured
debt such that our Pegasus Satellite and Pegasus Media subsidiaries can have
total senior secured debt of up to $650 million. We included as exhibits to the
Form 8-K copies of our press release and the DIRECTV, Inc. press release.
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On February 17, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 19, 2003 reporting under Item 5 that our subsidiary Pegasus Media (1)
amended its term loan credit facility which is guaranteed by Pegasus Media's
operating subsidiaries and is secured by a pledge by Pegasus Satellite
Communications of all of the outstanding stock of Pegasus Media, to permit
Pegasus Media's immediate parent, Pegasus Satellite, to obtain additional senior
secured term loans, and (2) established a $20.0 million revolving credit
facility, maturing July 2006, which is secured by a parity lien on the
collateral that secures the Pegasus Media term loans. We included as exhibits to
the Form 8-K the Pegasus Media revolving credit agreement and the amendment to
the Pegasus Media term loan credit facility.

On March 16, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 8,

2004 reporting under Item 9 announcing that summarized financial information
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showing adjusted operating cash flow required by Pegasus Satellite
Communication's indentures was available on our website. We also reported under
Item 12 our results of operations for the three and twelve months ended December
31, 2003. We included as an exhibit to the Form 8-K a copy of the press release
reporting on the results of operations for the three and twelve months ended
December 31, 2003.

On May 17, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 12,
2004 reporting under Item 5 that the United States District Court for the
Central District of California entered an order dismissing DIRECTV's claims
against Pegasus Satellite Television. The Court also dismissed Pegasus
Communications' claims against DIRECTV, thereby terminating further proceedings
before the District Court. We included as exhibits to the Form 8-K copies of two
press releases issued on May 13, 2004 as well as a copy of the final order
entered by the District Court.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, Pegasus Communications Corporation has duly caused this Report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Pegasus Communications Corporation

May 17, 2004 By: /s/ Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.

Date Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

Marshall W. Pagon, certify that:

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Pegasus Communications

Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial

information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for

establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, i1s made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being
prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and
procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our

most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee

of the registrant's board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal
controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal
controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
controls; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this

quarterly report whether there were significant changes in internal controls

or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.
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May 17, 2004

/s/ Marshall W. Pagon

Marshall W. Pagon
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

Joseph W. Pooler, Jr., certify that:

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Pegasus Communications

Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial

information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly
report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for

establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, i1s made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being
prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and
procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our

most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee

of the registrant's board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal
controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal
controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
controls; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this

quarterly report whether there were significant changes in internal controls

or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.
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May 17, 2004

/s/ Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.

Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Marshall W. Pagon, the Chief Executive Officer of Pegasus Communications
Corporation, hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that the Form 10-Q of Pegasus Communications Corporation for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2004 (the "March 31, 2004 Form 10-Q"), which
this certification accompanies, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o0(d))
and information contained in the March 31, 2004 Form 10-Q fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Pegasus Communications Corporation.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to Pegasus Communications Corporation and will be retained by Pegasus
Communications Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Dated: May 17, 2004

/s/ Marshall W. Pagon
Marshall W. Pagon
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EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Joseph W. Pooler, Jr., the Chief Financial Officer of Pegasus Communications
Corporation, hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that the Form 10-Q of Pegasus Communications Corporation for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2004 (the "March 31, 2004 Form 10-Q"), which
this certification accompanies, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o0(d))
and information contained in the March 31, 2004 Form 10-Q fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Pegasus Communications Corporation.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to Pegasus Communications Corporation and will be retained by Pegasus
Communications Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Dated: May 17, 2004

/s/ Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.
Joseph W. Pooler, Jr.
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